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Forward-looKInG Statement
In this Annual report we have disclosed forward-looking 
information to enable investors to comprehend our 
prospects and take informed investment decisions. This 
report and other statements-written and oral-that we 
periodically make contain forward-looking statements 
that set out anticipated results based on the management’s 
plans and assumptions. We have tried wherever possible to 
identify such statements by using words such as ‘anticipates’, 
‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’ 
and words of similar substance in connection with any 
discussion of future performance.

We cannot guarantee that these forward-looking statements 
will be realised, although we believe we have been prudent 
in our assumptions.

The achievement of results is subject to risks, uncertainties 
and even inaccurate assumptions. Should known or 
unknown risks or uncertainties materialise, or should 
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results 
could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or 
projected.

Readers should bear this in mind. We undertake no 
obligation to publicly update any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise.
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“ready for 
a rebound”

Financial Year 2014 was marked with slow economic 
growth, high inflation and interest rates, low industrial 
output, currency volatility and resultantly lackluster 
equity capital markets. 

Inditrade Capital took this time to focus on strengthening 
itself internally by boosting its product portfolio,  
optimizing distribution and franchise, integrating 
technology in operations, rationalizing processes and 
actively managing resource allocation. 

We feel confident we are ready to capitalize our strengths 
and tap market opportunities effectively as soon as they 
arise in the future.
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Lineage
Inditrade Capital Limited (formerly JrG 
Securities Limited) commenced services 
in 1994 as an equity broking financial 
services provider. over the years, the 
Company has emerged as one of the 
most trusted financial services provider 
with a strong presence in Southern India.

duckworth Limited, a subsidiary of 
baring India Private equity fund II 
Ltd., acquired a significant stake  in 
the Company in 2007.   Since then 
Inditrade has undergone several 
transformations – expanding into new 
geographies, adopting state-of-the-art 
technology, strengthening credit and 
risk management systems, creating 
new products and strengthening client 
relationships through a service focus.

Location
Inditrade (headquartered in Kochi) has 
39 Pan-India branch offices, 238 sub-
brokers and authorised personnel in 
Kerala, Tamil nadu, Karnataka, andhra 
Pradesh and Maharashtra.

Commitment
 We are a highly professional service 

provider
 We ensure a holistic customer 

experience

 We are a dynamic, motivated team 
with product and sectoral expertise

 We are reliable partners as our dealings 
are transparent

 We invest in long-term partnerships 
with stakeholders

 We differentiate ourselves as a smart 
solutions provider

Subsidiaries
 Inditrade derivative and Commodities 

Limited (formerly JrG Wealth 
Management Limited)

 JrG fincorp Limited
 Inditrade Insurance broking (P) Ltd 

(formerly JrG Insurance broking (P) 
Limited)

 Inditrade business Consultants 
Limited (formerly JrG business 
Investment Consultants Limited)

Memberships and affiliations
 affiliated as depository participants 

with the nSdL and the CdSL
 Member of the nSe, the bSe, and the 

MCX-SX (for equity trading)
 affiliated with the MCX, the nMCe, 

the nCdeX, the IPSTa and the 
nCMSL

 Complies with the regulatory 
requirements set down by the SebI, 
the Irda, the fMC and the rbI

Services

Equity brokerage
Commodity 

brokerage
Insurance

Non-banking 
financial services

Internet trading 
and phone-based 

services

Intermediation 
services relating to 
equities, derivative 
products and 
others.

Intermediation 
services relating 
to a full basket 
of commodities, 
including agro-
products, precious 
metals, metals, 
bullion and energy 
among others. 

Cutting edge 
e-platform to 
facilitate the full 
basket of services 
including equities, 
derivatives, 
commodities and 
currency derivative 
products. 

Various products 
in life insurance, 
general insurance, 
pension plans and 
health insurance 
segments. 

Products include 
margin finance, 
loan against shares, 
loan against 
commodities, 
mutual fund  and 
IPo

IndITrade  
CaPITaL LIMITed.

aT TraCTIVe 
ProXy of IndIa’S 
fInanCIaL 
SerVICeS SeCTor.

aT TraCTIVeLy 
PoSITIoned To 
CaPITaLISe on 
The IMMInenT 
rebound of 
The CounTry’S 
eConoMy and ITS 
CaPITaL  
MarKeTS.
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Dear Shareholders,
financial year 2014 has remained a lackluster year for 
the Indian retail investor for the most part. The economy 
chugged along at a dull pace recording a growth rate of 
4.7%, the least in a decade.  underlying weaknesses in the 
Indian economy came to surface this year as we witnessed 
economic growth on a downtrend, the current account 
deficit widening to 4.6% mid-year, populist, imprudent 
fiscal policy measures being announced, sticky double digit 
consumer inflation and the Inr depreciating by roughly 
20% against the uS dollar in a short span of a month in 
august 2013. The rbI weighed in immediately after and 
successfully arrested the currency weakness but its broad 
monetary policy of tightening interest rates to control 
inflation reaped very little success by the end of the year 
as food prices soared and there were no signs of inflation 
cooling off.  

World economy fared significantly better this year recording 
a GdP growth of 3%. Policy matters around quantitative 
easing, possibility of tapering, eu debt refinancing and 
local currency depreciation, all had its impacts on flows to 
emerging markets including India, adding to volatility in 
flows in a subdued capital markets situation in India. The last 
quarter saw a significant positive with the ensuing general 
elections in India and strong expectations of a growth and 
execution focused government at the centre. The capital 
markets soared post february 2014 reflecting increasing 
investor confidence of a stable pro-growth government 
having the ability of bringing India back to its growth path. 
That said, while the capital markets valuations and volumes 
increased, most of this was owing to fII participation. The 
retail investor was still cautious and remained largely non-
participative in the markets. 

Since the global credit crisis in 2008, the retail investor 
has continued to shy away from the capital markets and 

allocate household savings to inflation protected asset 
classes including mortgages, gold jewellery and coins, and 
attractive high yield debt, rather than equities and mutual 
funds. The retail brokerage market continued to shrink as 
high yield cash volumes were replaced by low yield futures 
and options products, and diminishing retail participation, 
weighing heavily on brokerage houses, forcing them to 
offer deep price discounts to retail clientele. These trends 
continued throughout the financial year, although there 
are some early signs of green shoots in the next financial 
year with a positive election outcome and the hope that 
economic growth gets retail investors interested in the 
markets; but it is still early to say when this will pan out.

your Company has during this phase strengthened itself 
to be ready to tap the market when the opportunity arises. 
Investments in technology, systems and processes have 
been made to enhance and standardize service offerings 
across our retail distribution, increase productivity and 
reduce fixed and variable costs of operations, reporting and 
compliance. a complete programme of cost rationalization 
was undertaken. your Company has made timely resource 
allocations to other revenue opportunities like equities 
arbitrage opportunities to boost financial performance 
and reward investors. your Company and management are 
actively engaged in maximizing shareholder wealth in these 
tough and challenging times and I appreciate the patience 
of every shareholder, employee, business associate and 
stakeholder in extending their support and contributing to 
our valuable franchise. 

With my best regards,

P. Viswanathan
Chairman, Inditrade Capital Ltd.

C h a I r M a n ’ S 
M e S S a G e



e q u I T y  b r o K e r a G e

H 13.23 crore

revenue 
in 2013-14

49.88%

Proportion of  
total revenue

H 125.16 crore

average daily turnover 
in 2013-14

Overview
India recorded a second straight year 
of sub-5% growth. The economy grew 
at a rate of 4.7% increasing marginally 
from 4.5% in 2012-13. Industrial activity 
declined and key policy rates remained 
on the higher side during the year under 

review. The rupee remained volatile, 

touching a low of H68.36 per dollar on 

28th august 2013.

The bSe sensex opened at 18,836 at the 

beginning of the year and closed at 22,386 

at the end of 2013-14; correspondingly, 

nSe CnX nIfTy moved from 5,682 
to 6,704 in fy 2013-14, recording an 
increase of 17.96% over the previous 
year. Traded volumes increased from 
H32,57,086 crore 2012-13 to H33,41,338 
crore in 2013-14.

Inditrade strengthened its position in 
retail trading platform employing a 
dedicated team of  dealers and advisors 
in its research team with the objective to 
provide personalized trade and execution   
services to active traders, retail investors 
and high net worth investors. The 
Company invested significantly in its 

technological platform, strengthened 
its research team and acquired relevant  
certifications.

Highlights, 2013-14
 Inditrade increased the number of 

registered clients across verticals to 
233,916 as on 31st March 2014.

 The Company focused on reactivating 
dormant clients.

 The national Stock exchange of 
India Limited (nSe) conducted an 
inspection, observing that ‘there are 
no adverse findings’ with Inditrade, 
which enhanced client confidence.

R Eta I l sE RV IC E s 

B u S I n e S S  r e v I e W
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Inditrade provided depository services, 
leveraging relationships with nSdL 
and CdSL. The Company provided a 
number of facilities - trading, demat 
account settlement, clearing services (for 
all security transactions), pledging and 
unpledging of shares, market and off-
market share transfer from one account 
to another, share dematerialisation and 
rematerialisation. The Company also 
opened demat accounts for holding 
securities and mutual funds.

Inditrade strengthened its offering 
through the following facilities:

 automated pay-in facility

 Speedy settlement process; enhanced 
liquidity

 Complete information access – 
anytime, anywhere - through a 
centralised helpdesk

 hassle-free automated pay-in of the 
sell obligation - no need for physical 
instruction

 Immediate disbursement of non-cash 
benefits like bonuses and rights

 Customised statements for privilege 
customers and personalised services

Highlights, 2013-14
 Total nSdL depository accounts were 

90,645 as on 31st March 2014 and 
7,259 with CdSL.

 nSdL’s inspection revealed that 
there was ‘no deviation observed’, 
strengthening stakeholder confidence.

DE P O sI tORY sE RV IC E s

The Company’s online presence  through 
its portal www.inditrade.com website,  
empowering clients to trade online 
across equities, commodities, currencies 
and mutual funds, among others.

The Company’s registered online clients 
increased by 40.10% over the previous 

year (9,283 clients as on 31st March, 
2014)

The Company introduced an app through 
Google Play Store, allowing users to 
analyze data conveniently and make 
comprehensive investment decisions 
with “iTrade on-the-go”. 

The Company relaunched its new 
generation web-based trading platform 
with enhanced features like multiple-
oS compatibility, multi-browser 
compatibility, among others.

R Eta I l BROK I NG –  ON l I N E BU sI N E s s
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C o M M o d I T y  b r o K e r a G e

H 6.20crore

revenue 
in 2013-14

23.36 %

Proportion of total 
revenue

H 85.49crore

average daily turnover 
in 2013-14

Overview
Inditrade ventured into commodities 
trading in 2003, and since then has 
emerged as a one-stop financial 
intermediary. The Company offers online 
and offline commodity services to retail 
clients on the MCX, the nCdeX,  the 
nMCe and the IPSTa, where it enjoys 
memberships.

Inditrade provides superior research 
capabilities. Customers are serviced 
by a relationship manager for 
comprehensive investment needs. The 
commodity broking business trades 
agro-commodities (rubber, cardamom, 
turmeric, chili, cumin seeds and refined 
soya), base metals, metals, bullion (gold 
and silver) and energy.

The Company recorded a trading 
turnover of H5,421.06 crore for bullion, 
H5,414.10 crore for crude oil, H3,590.59 
crore for silver, H3,209.76 crore for copper, 
H2,782.46 crore for rubber and H1,575.05 
crore for other agri-commodities.

Highlights 2013-14
 The Company’s registered commodity 

client base was 19,383 as on 31st 
March 2014

 The Company’s commodities volume 
crossed H26,502 crore

 The Company took adequate steps to 
reactivate dormant commodity clients

research services
Inditrade created a strong research team 
providing in-depth analyses (technical 
and fundamental) to diverse customer 
segments (active listed stocks, currencies 
and commodities) supported by 
comprehensive research reports.

The relationship management team 
conducted seminars, workshops and 
investor meets to enhance awareness. 
The Company offered a customised 
single screen market watch for the MCX 
and the nCdeX with nSe/bSe real-
time commodity information and client 
ledger positions.

road ahead
The Company selected to focus on 
attracting fresh customers through 
awareness-generating programmes and 
quality recommendations.

With reduced volatility across most 
commodities, the Company continued 
to focus on proprietary arbitrage trading, 
capitalising on the difference between 
spot and futures prices.

The Company laid a major emphasis on 
physical traders and corporates with an 
exposure in commodities, may give/take 
deliveries and use futures as a platform 
to hedge risks.

by working closely with exchanges 
on client awareness programmes 
and executing branch-level training 
programmes, the Company plans to 
regain its erstwhile momentum. 

B u S I n e S S  r e v I e W
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n b f C

H 5.49crore

revenue 
in 2013-14

20.73 %

Proportion of total 
revenue

Overview
The Company commenced its nbfC 
business in 2007-08 through a subsidiary 
JrG fincorp Limited. The nbfC is 
registered with the reserve bank of India 
as a non-deposit taking nbfC, providing 
agri-commodity and capital market loans 
to complement its portfolio of financial 
products and services. The Company 
tied up with the nCMSL (subsidiary 
of nCdeX) by virtue of a collaterals 
management agreement.

Margins funding: This service allows 
borrowing against a basket of shares and 
securities empowering the customer by 
allowing for leverage against collateral 
value. JrG fincorp ensures a delightful 

customer experience by ensuring that 
interest rates are attractive, the entire 
documentation process is hassle-free for 
the customer while not even burdening 
the customer with processing fees. 
all this said, risk management of this 
asset class is key and JrG fincorp has a 
specialized team dedicated to prudently 
supervise and manage risk. 

JrG fincorp Limited’s margin funding 
book size as on 31st March, 2014 was 
H22.11 crore comprising more than 500 
clients.

loans against shares: The key features 
of this service comprises borrowings 
against an extensive list of shares, 

simplified documentation, flexible 
repayment options (eMIs, flexible 
and bullet payments), quick loan 
processing, attractive interest rates and 
no prepayment penalty.

Commodity funding: The Company 
provide funding for cardamom, pepper, 
rubber, chili, steel, gold and silver, among 
others.

Highlights, 2013-14
 The Company forayed into segments 

like promoter funding, real estate 
funding and loans against shares

 The Company generated an interest 
income of H5.49 crore through its 
lending activities

B u S I n e S S  r e v I e W
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To the 20th annual General Meeting
NOt IC E

notice is hereby given that the 20th annual General Meeting of 
Members of Inditrade Capital Limited (formerly known as JrG 
Securities Limited) will be held on friday, September 26, 2014 at 
10.30 a.m. at “The renai Cochin”, P.b number.2310, edappally- 
Palarivattom road, Palarivattom, Kochi, Kerala - 682 025 to 
transact the following business:

A. OrDInArY BuSIneSS:
1. Adoption of Audited financial statements
To receive, consider and adopt the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended March 31, 2014, including audited 
balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, the Statement of Profit and 
Loss account for the year ended on that date and the reports of 
the board of directors (the board) and auditors thereon.

2. Appointment of Director
To appoint a director in place of Mr. Munish dayal (dIn: 
01683836), who retire by rotation at this annual General 
Meeting and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

3. Appointment of Auditors
To re-appoint auditors of the Company to hold office from 
the conclusion of this annual General Meeting (aGM) until 
the conclusion of the 4th consecutive aGM and to fix their 
remuneration.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution 
with or without modifications as an ordinary resolution:

“REsOlVED tHat pursuant to the provisions of Section 139 
of Companies act, 2013 read with The Companies (audit and 
auditors) rules, 2014 and as per the recommendations of the 
audit Committee of the board of directors, M/s haribhakthi 
& Co. LLP, Chartered accountants,(firm registration no. 
103523W) Chennai be and are hereby re-appointed as the 
statutory auditors of the Company to hold the office from the 
conclusion of this annual General meeting till the conclusion 
of fourth consecutive annual General Meeting, subject to the 
ratification of the appointment by the members at every annual 
General Meeting held after this annual General meeting on a 
remuneration as may be determined by the board of directors”.

B. SPeCIAL BuSIneSS:
4. Appointment of Mr. P. viswanathan as an Independent 
Director of the Company
To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without 
modification(s) the following resolution as an ordinary 
resolution:

“REsOlVED tHat pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 
152 read with Schedule IV and all other applicable provisions, if 
any, of the Companies act, 2013 (‘the act’) and the Companies 
(appointment and qualification of directors) rules, 2014 and 
Clause 49 of the Listing agreement(s), (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in 
force), Mr. P. Viswanathan (dIn: 00011136), a non-executive 
director of the Company, who has submitted a declaration that 
he meets the criteria for independence as provided in Section 
149(6) of the act and who is eligible for appointment and in 
respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing 
from a Member proposing his candidature for the office of 
director, be and is hereby appointed as Independent director 
of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to hold the 
office for a term of five(5) consecutive years from the date of 
this aGM”

5. Appointment of Mr. B. r. Menon as an Independent 
Director of the Company
To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without 
modification(s) the following resolution as an ordinary 
resolution:

“REsOlVED tHat pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 
152 read with Schedule IV and all other applicable provisions, if 
any, of the Companies act, 2013 (‘the act’) and the Companies 
(appointment and qualification of directors) rules, 2014 and 
Clause 49 of the Listing agreement(s), (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being 
in force), Mr. b. r. Menon (dIn: 00113329),a non-executive 
director of the Company, who has submitted a declaration that 
he meets the criteria for independence as provided in Section 
149(6) of the act and who is eligible for appointment and in 
respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing 
from a Member proposing his candidature for the office of 
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director, be and is hereby appointed as Independent director 
of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to hold the 
office for a term of five(5) consecutive years from the date of 
this aGM”

6. Appointment of Mr.Guruswami raj as the Manager 
of the Company
To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without 
modification(s) the following resolution as Special resolution:

“REsOlVED tHat pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 
197, 203 and all other applicable provisions of the Companies 
act, 2013 and the Companies (appointment and remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) rules, 2014 (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being 
in force), read with Schedule V to the Companies act, 2013 
(corresponding to Sections 198, 269, 384 to 388 and any other 
applicable provisions of the Companies act, 1956 read with 
Section II of Part II of Schedule XIII to the Companies act, 
1956) the consent of the Company be and is hereby accorded for 
the appointment of Mr. Guruswami raj G , Company Secretary 
and Compliance officer as the Manager of the Company for 
a period of 2 years with effect from 14th March 2014 on the 

terms and conditions including remuneration set out in the 
explanatory Statement annexed to the notice convening this 
Meeting, with liberty and power to the board of directors 
(hereinafter referred to as ‘the board’ which expression shall 
also include the nomination and remuneration Committee of 
the board), in the exercise of its discretion, to grant increments 
and to alter and vary from time to time the terms and conditions 
of the said appointment, subject to the same not exceeding the 
limits specified under Schedule V to the Companies act, 2013 or 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof.

REsOlVED FURtHER tHat the board be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may 
be necessary, proper, expedient or desirable to give effect to this 
resolution and/or to make modification as may be deemed to be 
in the best interest of the Company.”

by the order of the Board of Directors

Place : Gurgaon Guruswami Raj G
date  : 07.08.2014  Company Secretary

notes
1. The statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies 

act, 2013 with respect to the special business set out in the 
notice is annexed.

2. a member entitled to attend and vote at the aGM is entitled 
to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in the meeting instead 
of him/her and the proxy need not be a member of the 
Company.

3. The instrument appointing the proxy, duly completed, must 
be deposited at the Company’s registered office, not less 
than 48 hours before the meeting. a proxy form for the 
aGM is enclosed.

4. Proxies submitted on behalf of limited companies, societies, 
etc., must be supported by appropriate resolutions/
authority, as applicable. a person can act as proxy on behalf 
of Members not exceeding fifty (50) and holding in the 
aggregate not more than 10% of the total share capital of the 

Company. In case a proxy is proposed to be appointed by a 
Member holding more than 10% of the total share capital of 
the Company carrying voting rights, then such proxy shall 
not act as a proxy for any other person or shareholder.

5. Members/proxies should bring the duly filled attendance 
Slip enclosed herewith to attend the meeting.

6. The register of Members and Transfer books of the 
Company will be closed from friday, 19th September 2014 
to friday, 26th September 2014, both days inclusive.

7. Members may also note that the notice of the 20th aGM 
and the annual report 2014 will be available on the 
Company’s website, www.inditrade.com. Physical copies 
of these documents will also available at the Company’s 
registered office for inspection during normal business 
hours on working days.

8. Members holding shares in physical form are requested to 
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consider converting their holding to dematerialized form to 
eliminate all risks associated with physical shares. Members 
can contact the Company or registrar and Share Transfer 
agent (rTa) in this regards.

9. electronic copy of the annual report is being sent to all 
the members holding shares in demat mode and whose 
email Id are available with the depository Participant(s)/ 
registrar and Share Transfer agent (rTa)/ Company 
and to all the members holding shares in physical mode 
whose email Id are registered with the Company/rTa 
for communication purposes unless any member has 
requested for a hard copy of the same. for members who 
have not registered their email address, physical copies 

of the annual report for 2013-2014 is being sent in the 
permitted mode.

10. additional Information pursuant to Clause 49 of the 
listing agreement with the stock exchange in respect of the 
director’s seeking appointment/reappointment at the aGM 
has furnished and forms a part of the notice. The director 
has furnished the requisite consents/declarations for their 
appointment/reappointment.

11. all documents reffered to in the accompanying notice and 
explanatory statement shall be opened for inspection at 
the registered office of the Company during the normal 
business hours (9:30 am to 5:30 pm) on all working days 
upto the date of aGM.

11. E-Voting:
 Pursuant to section 108 of the Companies act, 2013 read with rule 20 of the Companies (Management and administration) 

rule, 2014, the Company is pleased to provide e-voting facility through Central depository Services (India) Limited (CdSL) as 
an alternative, for all members of the Company to enable them to cast their votes electronically on all the resolutions set forth in 
the notice convening 20th annual General Meeting of the Company.

 The notice and the instructions for e-voting along with attendance Slip and Proxy form being sent in electronic form to all the 
members whose email Id are registered with the Company /depository Participant(s)/rTa for communication purposes unless 
any member has requested for a hard copy of the same.

I. In case of members receiving e-mail:
(i) Log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com

(ii) Click on “Shareholders” tab.

(iii) now, select the “CoMPany naMe” from the drop down menu and click on “SubMIT”

(iv) now enter your user Id

a. for CdSL: 16 digits beneficiary Id,

b. for nSdL: 8 Character dP Id followed by 8 digits Client Id,

c. Members holding shares in Physical form should enter folio number registered with the Company.

(v) next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

(vi) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier voting of 
any company, then your existing password is to be used.

(vii) If you are a first time user follow the steps given below:

For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form

Pan enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *Pan issued by Income Tax department (applicable for both demat 
shareholders as well as physical shareholders)

 Members who have not updated their Pan with the Company/depository Participant are requested 
to use the first two letters of their name and the 8 digits of the sequence number in the Pan field.

 In case the sequence number is less than 8 digits enter the applicable number of 0’s before the number 
after the first two characters of the name in CaPITaL letters. eg. If your name is ramesh Kumar 
with sequence number 1 then enter ra00000001 in the Pan field.

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

10



For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form
dob enter the date of birth as recorded in your demat account or in the company records for the said 

demat account or folio in dd/mm/yyyy format.

dividend  
bank details

enter the dividend bank details as recorded in your demat account or in the company records for 
the said demat account or folio.

  Please enter the dob or dividend bank details in order to login. If the details are not recorded 
with the depository or company please enter the member id / folio number in the dividend bank 
details field.

(viii) after entering these details appropriately, click on 
“SubMIT” tab.

(ix) Members holding shares in physical form will then reach 
directly the Company selection screen. however, members 
holding shares in demat form will now reach ‘Password 
Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily 
enter their login password in the new password field. 
Kindly note that this password is to be also used by the 
demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other 
company on which they are eligible to vote, provided 
that company opts for e-voting through CdSL platform. 
It is strongly recommended not to share your password 
with any other person and take utmost care to keep your 
password confidential.

(x) for Members holding shares in physical form, the details 
can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions contained 
in this notice.

(xi) Click on eVSn for the relevent <Inditrade Capital 
Limited> on which you choose to vote.

(xii) on the voting page, you will see “reSoLuTIon 
deSCrIPTIon” and against the same the option “yeS/
no” for voting. Select the option yeS or no as desired. 
The option yeS implies that you assent to the resolution 
and option no implies that you dissent to the resolution.

(xiii) Click on the “reSoLuTIonS fILe LInK” if you wish to 
view the entire resolution details.

(xiv) after selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, 
click on “SubMIT”. a confirmation box will be displayed. 
If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “oK”, else to 
change your vote, click on “CanCeL” and accordingly 
modify your vote.

(xv) once you “ConfIrM” your vote on the resolution, you 

will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xvi) you can also take out print of the voting done by you by 
clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

(xvii) If demat account holder has forgotten the changed 
password then enter the user Id and the image verification 
code and click on forgot Password & enter the details as 
prompted by the system.

  Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, 
huf, nrI etc.) are required to log on to https://
www.evotingindia.co.in and register themselves as 
Corporate.

  They should submit a scanned copy of the 
registration form bearing the stamp and sign of the 
entity to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

  after receiving the login details they have to create a 
user who would be able to link the account(s) which 
they wish to vote on.

  The list of accounts should be mailed to helpdesk.
evoting@cdslindia.com and on approval of the 
accounts they would be able to cast their vote.

  They should upload a scanned copy of the board 
resolution and Power of attorney (Poa) which they 
have issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, in Pdf 
format in the system for the scrutinizer to verify the 
same.

II. In case of members receiving the physical copy:

(a) Please follow all steps from sl. no. (i) to sl. no. (xvii) above 
to cast vote.

(b) The voting period commences on 20th September 2014, 
(Saturday) (9.00 a.m) to 22nd September, 2014 (6.00 p.m). 
during this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding 
shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, 
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as on the cut-off date (record date) of 22nd august 2014 
(friday), may cast their vote electronically. The e-voting 
module shall be disabled by CdSL for voting thereafter.

(C) In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, 
you may refer the frequently asked questions (“faqs”) 
and e-voting manual available at www.evotingindia.co.in 
under help section or write an email to helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com .

General Instruction for E-Voting
•	 Shareholders	can	update	the	mobile	number	and	Email	ID	

in the user profile details of the folio which may be used for 
sending future Communication.

•	 Mr.Jayan	 K,	 Partner,	 SVJS	 &	 Associates,	 Company	
Secretaries, Kochi will be acting as the Scrutinizer to 
scrutinize the e-voting process in a fair and transparent 
manner.

•	 The	 Scrutinizer	 shall	 within	 a	 period	 not	 exceeding	
three(3) working days from the conclusion of the e-voting 
period unblock the votes and make a Scrutinizer’s report 
of the votes cast in favour or against, if any, forthwith to the 
Chairman of the Company.

•	 The	 Results	 shall	 be	 declared	 on	 or	 after	 the	 AGM	 of	
the Company. The results declared along with the 

Scrutinizer’s report shall be placed on the Company’s 
website www.inditrade.com within two (2) days of passing 
of the resolutions at the aGM of the Company and 
communicated to the bombay Stock exchange Limited.

•	 Facility	for	e-Voting	will	be	provided	to	the	Members	who	
are not able to cast their vote at the aGM venue. a member 
can opt for only one mode i.e. either through e-voting or 
voting at the aGM. If a member casts votes by both modes, 
then voting done through e-voting shall prevail and the 
voting at aGM shall be treated as invalid.

•	 Resolutions	passed	through	e-voting	would	be	deemed	to	
be passed as on the date of aGM.

•	 Members	 are	 requested	 to	 send	 their	 queries,	 if	 any,	 on	
the accounts or operations of the Company in advance 
to the registered office of the Company addressed to 
the Company Secretary or by email Id to guruswamy.
raj@inditrade.com to enable the Company to keep the 
information ready.

by the order of the Board of Directors

Place : Gurgaon Guruswami Raj G
date  : 07.08.2014  Company Secretary

explanatory Statement Pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies 
Act.2013
as required under Section 102 of the Companies act, 2013(act), 
the following explanatory statement sets out all material facts 
relating to the business mentioned under resolutions nos. 4 to 7 
of the accompanying notice:

resolutions no. 4 & 5:
The Company had, pursuant to the provisions of clause 49 of the 
listing agreement entered with the Stock exchange, appointed 
Mr. P. Viswanathan and Mr. b. r. Menon, as the independent 

directors of the Company on 15/09/2009 and 27/05/2008 
respectively in compliance with the requirement of the clause 49 
of the Listing agreement.

Pursuant to the provisions of section 149 of the act, which came 
in to effect from april 1, 2014, every listed public company 
is required to have at least one-third of the total number of 
directors as independent directors, who are not liable to retire 
by rotation.
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based on the recommendations of the nominations and 
remuneration Committee, the board has appointed Mr. P. 
Viswanathan and Mr. b. r. Menon, as the Independent directors 
of the Company not liable to retire by rotation, to hold office for 
a term of five (5) consecutive years from the date of this aGM.

Mr. P. Viswanathan and Mr. b. r. Menon, the non- executive 
independent directors of the Company have furnished 
their declaration to the board that they meet the criteria of 
independence as provided under section 149(6) of the act.

In the opinion of the board, each of these directors fulfill the 
conditions specified in the act and the rules framed there 
under for appointment as Independent director and they 
are independent of the management. In compliance with the 
provisions of section 149 read with Schedule IV of the act, 
the proposed appointments of these directors as Independent 
directors are now being placed before the Members for their 
approval.

The board considers that the continued association of Mr. 
P. Viswanathan and Mr. b. r. Menon would be of immense 
benefit to the Company and hence it is desirable to continue to 
avail their services as Independent directors. accordingly the 
board recommends each of the resolutions in relation to the 
appointment of directors for the approval by the Shareholders 
of the Company.

Mr. P. Viswanathan and Mr. b. r. Menon are deemed to be 
interested in their respective appointments. no other director 
or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their relatives 
are interested or concerned, financial or otherwise in the 
aforesaid ordinary resolutions detailed in nos.4 & 5 and the 
board recommends resolutions set forth herein for approval of 
the members.

resolution no. 6:
Mr. Guruswami raj G, aged 49 years was appointed as the 
Company Secretary & Compliance officer of the Company w.e.f 

08th august, 2013. Mr. Guruswami raj G is a Post-graduate in 
Commerce and associate Member of the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India (ICSI). he has more than 24 years of work 
experience, out of which more than 8 years in the field of 
Corporate Secretarial, legal and managerial functions.

The remuneration Committee and board of directors of the 
Company appointed Mr. Guruswami raj G as the Manager of 
the Company, for a period of 2 years commencing 14th March, 
2014 subject to the approval of the shareholders in the annual 
general meeting on the terms and conditions including the 
remuneration determined by the remuneration Committee/
board of directors.

Mr. Guruswami raj G is holding the post of Company Secretary 
and Compliance officer of the Company in addition to the post 
of Manager. The remuneration payable to him comprises of 
salary, allowance and other perquisites and the aggregate value 
is H13.15 Lacs (H Thirteen lacs fifteen thousand only) per annum 
with such annual / accelerated increments as may be considered 
by the board / nomination and remuneration Committee from 
time to time, upto an amount not exceeding the limits provided 
in Schedule V to the Companies act, 2013.

except Mr. Guruswami raj G, Manager, being an appointee, no 
other director or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or 
their relatives are interested or concerned, financial or otherwise 
in the aforesaid ordinary resolutions detailed in no.6 and the 
board recommends resolutions set forth herein for approval of 
the members.

by the order of the Board of Directors

Place : Gurgaon Guruswami Raj G
date  : 07.08.2014  Company Secretary
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Disclosure under clause 49 of the Listing Agreement in respect of 
Directors seeking appoint/re-appointment   at the 20th Annual 
General Meeting
A) Mr. Munish Dayal

Name of the Director Mr. Munish Dayal

dIn 01683836

date of birth 03/04/1966
date of appointment(Initial 
appointment)

30/10/2007

qualification Mba(delhi university), faculty of Management Studies, delhi
experience in specific functional area has more than 20 years of extensive experience in the financial services industry. he 

has worked with Citigroup for six  years in senior roles across major markets (London, 
europe, Singapore, Middle east India) in functions ranging from retail banking, 
Cash Management, asset based finance to Custody, culminating as the head of 
Small business and Mass Markets Group for asia Pacific. he was also one of the early 
members of the senior management team at yes bank - a recently established bank, 
and was instrumental in scaling up the SMe and Mid Market Product businesses of the 
bank as a key profit centre.

directorship in other Indian 
Companies

1.Infrasoft Technology Limited
2. JrG fincorp Limited
3. Proactive data Systems Private Limited
4. rMZ Infotech Private Limited
5. rMZ ecoworld Infrastructure Private Limited

Membership in board Committee of 
other Companies

Member of audit Committee in Infrasoft Technology Limited.

number of Shares held nIL
Inter se relationship with any other 
director

nIL

B) Mr. P. viswanathan 
Name of the Director Mr.P.Viswanathan

dIn 00011136

date of birth 08/09/1950
date of appointment(Initial 
appointment)

15/09/2009 

qualification fCa
experience in specific functional area Started career with ICI - for 6 years in the financial accounting, Management accounting 

and data Processing services. Moved to consulting with M/s. ferguson & Co for 5 years 
– Consultancy assignments included setting up of financial accounting and MIS systems 
for a large Paper and boards company, distribution study for a Government organization, 
market survey and organizational studies. 

after a stint in consulting, shifted back to Industry as the Cfo in WIPro Information 
Technology. Set up decentralized accounting systems and organization and was involved
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in setting up processes and systems for finance and accounting functions including 
budgeting and MIS systems. after 2 years in WIPro co founded alacrity housing Ltd 
in Chennai. built alacrity along with the founder as the largest real estate in Chennai 
in a short span of 4 years. Was instrumental in setting documentation procedures and 
business polices which have since become industry standards. quit alacrity after 5 
years and joined the Sanmar Group. Served Sanmar for 17 years as Ceo of Property 
development, financial Services and Shipping. Major tasks involved setting up a 
property development organization, divesting financial services business and turning 
around the shipping business. Took an early retirement as the Managing director, 
Sanmar Shipping Ltd. Post retirement an independent consultant and advisor to 
Shriram Properties limited. also on the boards of 2 companies as independent director 
invited by Private equity Investors with a large stake. have had P & L accountability 
for over 20 years in various businesses. has handled international financial closing, 
conducted due diligence, involved in M & a activity, raised money from specialized 
financial institutions, written accounting, ethics and policy manuals and have lectured 
at management seminars.

directorship in other Indian 
Companies

1. JrG fincorp Limited
2. Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited
3. Inditrade business Consultants Limited
4. SeCoVa e Services Private Limited
5. auro Mira energy Company Private Limited
6. Covai Senior Care Constructions Private Limited

Membership in board Committee of 
other Companies

audit Committee Chairman in  Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited, JrG 
fincorp Limited and Inditrade business Consultants Limited

number of Shares held nIL
Inter se relationship with any other 
director

nIL

C) Mr. B. r. Menon
Name of the Director Mr. B.R Menon

dIn 00113329

date of birth 16.03.1960
date of appointment(Initial 
appointment)

27.05.2008

qualification Graduate in Law
experience in specific functional area has over 25 years experience as an advocate and has appeared several important cases 

before the Supreme Court of India and Various high Courts. he has also appeared in the 
Matter before the Courts in the united Kingdom and australia besides the ICC Tribunal 
for arbitration. he has also appeared in the matters before the Company Law board, The 
national Consumer forum, CeGaT and other statutory authorities. he has also advised 
major national, transactional and multinational Companies on merger, acquisitions, 
Commercial Litigation and arbitration. 

directorship in other Indian 
Companies

Mechventure Consultants & advisors Private Limited

Membership in board Committee of 
other Companies

nIL

number of Shares held 22649
Inter se relationship with any other 
director

nIL
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your directors are pleased to present the 20th annual report and the Company’s audited accounts for the financial year ended  
March 31, 2014.

Financial results (H in Crores)

Particulars
standalone Consolidated

2014 2013 2014 2013

Total revenue 15.37 20.17 31.96 40.92

Total expenditure 16.28 23.20 32.88 45.71

Profit/ (Loss) before tax and exceptional items (0.91) (3.03) (0.92) (4.79)

exceptional Item - - 2.91 -

Provision for Tax        -       - 0.96 1.15

Profit /(Loss) after tax and exceptional item (0.91) (3.03) (4.79) (5.94)

Profit /(Loss) after tax and minority interest (5.67) (6.56)

results of Operations
on a standalone basis, during the year under review, your 
Company earned revenue of H15.37 crores as against H20.17 
crores in the previous year. This was a result of a continued 
lackluster market, as well as, your Company’s concerted 
efforts to rationalize costs and retain only profitable customers 
and business associates. The Management completed a fixed 

cost optimization program this year under which negative 
contribution branches were consolidated into larger branches. 
further, management undertook an effort to optimize 
technology costs, communication costs and employee costs so 
as to contain expenses in a tough industry environment.

as a result of this effort, while ‘loss-making revenues’ came off, 
expenses were contained significantly. The expenditure incurred 

d I r e C T o r S ’  r e P o r T
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was H16.28 crores as against 23.20 crores in the previous year 
or a saving of 29.83%. This resulted in a loss of H0.91 crores as 
against of loss H3.03 crores in previous year. The year ended with 
a positive outlook as the loss is reduced by 70% as compared to 
the previous year.

The total consolidated revenue of your Company for the year 
ended 31st March 2014 was H31.96 crores as against H40.92 
crores in the previous year and the expenditure incurred was 
H32.88 crores against H45.70 crores in the previous year. as a 
result of the Company’s cost optimization plan, the Company 
saved H12.90 crores by shutting down unprofitable branches, 
renegotiating service contracts with vendors, and focusing on 
productivity and efficiencies. The Company recorded a ebITda 
of H2.75 crores this year as compared to  ebITda of  H0.36 crores 
last year.

The Company has demonstrated prudence by building a treasury 
book, where investments have contributed to realised profits of 
H2.04 crores in this financial year. 

your Company has recorded a consolidated loss before taxes of 
H0.92 crores as against a loss of H4.79 crores during the previous 
year. after tax expense of H0.96 crores, exceptional item of H2.91 
crores and minority interest of H0.87 crores, the consolidated 

loss for the year stood at H5.67 crores as against a loss of H6.56 
crores in the previous year.

Business updates
during the year under review, the Company, along with its 
subsidiaries provided a bouquet of services to its clients. 
The services include equity broking, derivatives trading, 
commodities derivatives trading, currency derivatives trading, 
insurance services, nbfC products like margin funding, loan 
against shares, loan against commodities. The Company intends 
to offer more gamut of service to the clients.

The Company was ebITda focused and shifted more priority 
to cost management by rationalizing unprofitable branches and 
business associates, employee costs, technology, infrastructure 
and operating costs. This resulted in a cost saving of H12.90 
crores this year.

recent updates
during the year under review the name of your Company has 
been changed from JrG Securities Limited to Inditrade Capital 
Limited. Company got the approval from registrar of Companies 
(roC), Kerala on 23rd october, 2013. Consequent to the change 
in name, the company has filed necessary applications to change 
its name with all Stock exchanges and depositories.
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during the year under review the Company was subjected to 
inspection by regulatory authorities. national Stock exchange 
of India Limited (nSe) and national Security depository 
Limited (nSdL) had observed that “there are no adverse 
findings” and “no deviation observed” respectively.

Subsidiary Companies
your directors present herewith a broad overview of the 
operations and financials of Subsidiaries of your Company:

a) Inditrade Derivatives and Commodities limited
 Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited recorded 

total revenue of H7.33 crores as against H10.95 crores 
during the previous year in line with slowing commodity 
prices and volumes last year. The expenditure during the 
year stood at H10.52 crores, which resulted in a loss of  
H3.19 crores as against a loss of H4.36 crores in the previous 
year.

b) JRG Fincorp limited
 nbfC Subsidiary, JrG fincorp Limited recorded revenue 

of H8.17 crores as against H7.81 crores during the previous 
year. The expenditure during the year stood at H5.17 crores, 
which resulted in a profit of H3.00 crores before tax. The 
profit after tax for the year stood at H2.03 crores as against 
profit of H1.61 crores during the previous year.

 The Company built a treasury book using free cash and 
generated profits before tax of H2.26 crores.

c) Inditrade Business Consultants limited
 Inditrade business Consultants Limited, recorded revenue 

of H1.52 crores as against H2.72 crores in the previous year. 
The expenditure during the year stood at H1.23 crores, and 

exceptional item of H2.91 crores, which resulted in a loss 
of H2.61 crores as against loss of H0.16 crores during the 
previous year.

d) Inditrade Insurance Broking Private limited
 Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited recorded 

revenue of H0.29 crores as against H0.39 crores in the 
previous year. The total expenditure stood H0.39 crores, 
which resulted in a loss of H0.10 crores as against a loss of 
H0.09 crores in the corresponding previous year.

Accounts of Subsidiaries
The Ministry of Corporate affairs vide its General Circular no. 
02/ 2011 dated february 08, 2011 has granted a general exemption 
from attaching the financial statements of its subsidiaries along 
with the accounts of holding company subject to fulfillment 
of condition specified in the said circular. accordingly, 
your Company is not attaching the financial statement of 
its subsidiaries viz. Inditrade derivatives and Commodities 
Limited, Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited, JrG 
fincorp Limited and Inditrade business Consultants Limited 
along with the balance Sheet of your Company for the year 
under review.

further, the Company assures that annual accounts of the 
subsidiary companies and the related detailed information 
shall be made available to shareholders of the Company and 
its subsidiary companies seeking such information at any point 
of time. The annual accounts of the subsidiary companies shall 
also be kept for inspection by any shareholders at the registered 
office of the Company and of the subsidiary companies 
concerned. The Company shall furnish a hard copy of its details 
of accounts of subsidiaries to any shareholder on demand.
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Transfer of Amounts to Investor education 
and Protection Fund
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 205a(5) and 205C of 
the Companies act, 1956, relevant amounts which remained 
unpaid or unclaimed for a period of seven years have been 
transferred by the Company, from to time to time on due dates, 
to the Investor education and Protection fund. Pursuant to 
the provisions of Investor education and Protection fund 
(uploading of information regarding unpaid and unclaimed 
amounts lying with companies) rules, 2012, the Company has 
uploaded the details of unpaid and unclaimed amounts lying 
with the Company as on 27th September 2013 (date of last 
annual General Meeting) on the Company’s website (www.
inditrade.com), as also on the Ministry of Corporate affairs’ 
website.

Corporate Governance
The Company is committed to maintain the highest standards of 
corporate governance and adhere to the corporate governance 
requirements set out by SebI. The report on corporate governance 
as stipulated under Clause 49 of the Listing agreement forms 
part of the annual report. The requisite certificate from a 
Practising Company Secretary, Kochi conforming compliance 
with the conditions of corporate governance as stipulated under 
the aforesaid Clause 49 is attached to the report on corporate 
governance.

Directors
Presently the board of your Company consists of three directors 
of which two are Independent non-executive directors, in 
compliance with Clause 49 of the Listing agreement with bombay 

Dividend
The Company incurred loss during the current financial year under review and therefore board of directors do not recommend 
dividend to the shareholders for the financial year 2013-2014.

Details of utilisation of IPO proceeds: (Amount in lacs)

Particulars*

Envisaged 
in the 
prospectus

Change
in utilization *

amount 
utilized as 
on
31st March 
2013

Utilized 
during the 
year

total fund 
utilized 
(Including 
change in 
utilization)

amount 
remaining to 
be utilized

Middle eastern operations 560.00 (366.66) 193.34 - 193.34 -
Technology up gradation
Computer software

160.00
- 110.00 - 110.00

Computer hardware - 50.00 - 50.00
regional offices 600.00 - 628.81 - 628.81
Issue expenses 130.00 - 147.86 - 147.86
opening new branches in India - 200.00 124.07 14.67 138.74 61.26
Infrastructure development for i-trade - 40.00 15.23 - 15.23 24.77
other infrastructural requirements. - 126.66 123.23 - 123.23 3.43
Total 1450.00 1392.54 14.67 1407.21 89.46
Means of finance
Issue proceeds 
Internal accruals 
Total utilized

1360.54
46.67

1407.21

*In the annual General Meeting of the Company held on 25th July 2009, the shareholders gave their consent to change the utilization 
of the aforesaid monies totaling to H366.66 Lakhs, raised by the Company during the IPo of its shares, from those specified in the 
object clause in the prospects, inter alia to utilizing the monies for expansion activities by opening new branches, infrastructure 
development for I-Trade and other infrastructure and technology requirements.
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Stock exchange Limited. as part of the requirements under 
Clause 49 of the Listing agreement, Mr. P. Viswanathan(dIn: 
00011136),Independent non executive director, is nominated 
on the board of JrG fincorp Limited, Inditrade derivatives 
and Commodities Limited and Inditrade business Consultants 
Limited, subsidiaries of your Company.

Mr. b. r. Menon (dIn: 00113329) and Mr. Munish dayal 
(dIn: 01683836), directors of the Company who retired at the 
19th annual General Meeting of the Company held on 27th 
September, 2013 were re-appointed as directors of the Company.

Mr. Pradeep Mallick (dIn: 00061256), director of the Company 
resigned from the board w.e.f. 08th november, 2013.

Mr. anand Tandon (dIn: 02197457), Managing director and 
Mr. rahul bhasin (dIn: 00236867), director of the Company 
have resigned from the board w.e.f 13th february, 2014. 

board of directors has appointed Mr. Guruswami raj G as 
the Manager of the Company for a period of 2 years w.e.f 14th 
March 2014, subject to the approval of Shareholders in the 
ensuing annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the provisions Section 152 of the Companies 
act, 2013 and the articles of association of the Company, 
Mr.Munish dayal(dIn: 01683836), director, retiring by 
rotation at the ensuing annual General Meeting is eligible for 
re-appointment.

Pursuant to Section 149 and other applicable provisions of 
the Companies act, 2013, your directors are seeking the 
appointment of Mr.P.Viswanathan (dIn: 00011136), and Mr. 
b. r. Menon (dIn: 00113329) as Independent non-executive 
directors of your Company for five consecutive years from 26th 
September, 2014.

The Company has received declarations from all the Independent 
directors of the Company conforming that they meet with the 
criteria of independence as prescribed both under sub-section 
(6) of Section 149 of the Companies act, 2013 and under Clause 
49 of the Listing agreement with bombay Stock exchange 
Limited.

details of the proposal along with necessary resolutions for the 
appointment / re-appointment of the aforesaid directors have 
been included in the notice convening the ensuing aGM and 
explanatory Statement under Section 102 of the Companies 
act, 2013.

employee Stock Option Plan (eSOP)
In order to attract and retain talent in the Company, eSoP 
scheme (JrG eSoP 2008) is in place. This will encourage 
our employees to participate in the growth of the Company. 
disclosure as per Clause 12 of the SebI (employees Stock 
option Scheme and employees Stock option Purchase Scheme) 
Guidelines, 1999 is annexed to this report as annexure a.

Fixed deposits
during the year, your Company did not accept/renew any 
deposits within the meaning of Section 58a of the Companies 
act, 1956 and the rules made there under.

Particulars of employees
no employee of the Company was in receipt of remuneration 
exceeding the amount prescribed under Section 217(2a) of the 
Companies act, 1956, read with the Companies (Particulars of 
employees) rules, 1975, during the financial year 2013-2014.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis report
Management’s discussion and analysis report for the year 
under review, as stipulated under Clause 49 of the Listing 
agreement with bombay Stock exchange Limited, is presented 
in a separate section forming part of the annual report.

Auditors and Auditors’ report
M/s. haribhakthi & Co. LLP, Chartered accountants, Chennai, 
Statutory auditor of the Company, retires at the ensuing 
annual General Meeting and has confirmed their eligibility and 
willingness to accept office, if re-appointed.

The Company has received a confirmation from M/s. 
haribhakthi & Co. LLP, Chartered accountants, to the effect 
that their appointment, if made, would be within the limits 
prescribed under Section 139 of the Companies act, 2013. The 
audit Committee and board of directors recommend the re-
appointment of M/s. haribhakthi & Co., Chartered accountants, 
as Statutory auditors of the Company to hold the office from the 
conclusion of this aGM till the conclusion of fourth consecutive 
aGM, subject to the ratification of the appointment by the 
members at every aGM.

Information under Section 217(1) (e) of the 
Companies Act, 1956
a. Conservation of energy
The operations of your Company are not energy-sensitive in 
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nature. however, measures are introduced to reduce the energy consumption at all levels in the organization by optimal use of 
technology.

B. technology absorption
The Company adopted the latest state of-the-art software and hardware tools available in the market for rendering stock-broking and 
other services more efficiently and effectively.

C. Foreign exchange earnings and outgo
There was no foreign exchange earnings and outgo during the year 2013-2014.

Directors’ responsibility Statement
In accordance with the provisions of Section 217 (2aa) of the Companies act, 1956, the board of directors affirms:

(a) That in the preparation of the accounts for the year ending March 31, 2014 the applicable accounting Standards were followed 
and there are no material departures there from.

(b) That the accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently and have made judgments and estimates that were 
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as on March 31, 2014 and of the 
loss of the Company for the year ended on that date.

(c) That proper and sufficient care was taken for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

(d) That the accounts for the year ended March 31, 2014 was prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis.

Acknowledgments
your directors place on record their sincere appreciation for the assistance and guidance provided by the regulators, stock exchanges, 
other statutory bodies and Company’s bankers for the assistance, cooperation and encouragement extended to the Company. your 
Company’s employees are instrumental in your Company scaling new heights, year after year. Their commitment and contribution 
is deeply acknowledged. your involvement as shareholders is also greatly valued. your directors look forward to your continuing 
support.

for and on behalf of the Board

Place : Gurgaon P. Viswanathan
date  : 7th august, 2014  Chairman

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

21



AnneXure A 
Particulars  Grant till date

2008 scheme 
Options granted 100000 210000 52500 10000 38000 282250 184802 107105

Pricing formula fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

fair value 
based on 
market 
price

options vested 43750 110875 17875 5000 12250 75938 92401 26777
options exercised nil nil nil nil nil nil nil nil
Total no. of shares arising as 
result of exercise of options

nil 67125 nil nil nil nil nil nil

options lapsed or forfeited 100000 154000 44000 5000 25000 215250 184802 107105
Variation of terms of 
options

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil nil

Money realised by exercise 
of options

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil nil

Total number of options in 
force

nil 56000 8500 5000 13000 67000 nil nil

employee-wise details of 
options granted to:
(i) Senior Management 

Personnel no. of options

 biju Xaviour - Vice 
President

nil 15000 7500

 Gijo T rockey - Vice 
President (Surveillance)

nil 10000 7500

(ii) any other employee 
who receives a grant in 
any one year of options 
amounting to 5% or 
more of options granted 
during that year

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil

(iii) Identified employees 
who were granted 
options, during any 
one year, equal to or 
exceeding 1% of the 
issued capital (excluding 
outstanding warrants 
and conversions) of the 
Company at the time of 
grant

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil
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Particulars  Grant till date
2008 scheme 

Options granted 100000 210000 52500 10000 38000 282250 184802 107105
diluted earnings per share 
pursuant to issue of shares 
on exercise of options 
calculated in accordance 
with aS 20 'earnings per 
Share'

(0.39)

Weighted average exercise 
price of options granted 
during the year

0

Weighted average fair value 
of options granted during 
the year

0

description of method and 
significant assumptions used 
to estimate the fair value of 
options

fair value of options granted has been estimated using the black Scholes option pricing Model

risk-free interest rate 6.15% 6.15% 6.15% 7% 7% 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
expected life 7years
expected volatility 33% 33% 33% 45% 45% 45% 45% 45%
expected dividend 0%
The price of the underlying 
share in the market at the 
time of options grant

rs.37.73 rs.39.90 rs.39.90 rs 41.00 rs 49.00 rs 35.90 rs 34.70 rs. 15.80
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1. Company’s Philosophy on Code of Governance
Corporate Governance essentially involves aligning and enhancing interests of various Stakeholders of the Company and encompasses 
every sphere of management, from action plans and internal controls to performance measurement and corporate disclosures. The 
Company endeavors to conduct its affairs in a fair and transparent manner and maintains the highest ethical standards in all its 
dealings.

at ‘Inditrade’ we focus on four key building blocks – Trust, Transparency, Technology and Talent. The directors and Management of 
your Company continue to be committed to adhere to the governance standards and ensuring to comply with regulatory requirements 
in the true sense, even beyond the letter of law.

2. Board of Directors
i. Composition and Category of directors
 The Company’s policy is to maintain optimum combination of executive and non-executive directors and board’s composition 

is in compliance with requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing agreement. as on March 31, 2014 the Company’s board comprised 
3 (Three) directors of which 2 (two) are Independent non-executive directors. The Chairman of the board Mr. P. Viswanathan 
is a non-executive independent director. The composition of the board and category of directors are as follows:

Name of the Directors Category

Mr. Munish dayal [dIn- 01683836] Professional non- executive director

Mr. P. Viswanathan [dIn- 00011136] Independent non- executive director

Mr. b. r. Menon [dIn- 00113329] Independent non- executive director

  none of the directors are, inter se, related to any other director on the board.

C o r P o r aT e  G oV e r na n C e  r e P o rT
(Pursuant to Clause 49 of the Listing agreement)
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ii. attendance of Directors at Board meetings, last annual General Meeting (aGM) and number of other 
Directorships and Chairmanships / Memberships of Committees of each Director in various companies as on 
31.03.2014:

Name of the Directors no of board Meetings 
held in 2013-14

attendance at meetings 
during 2013-14 (3)

no. of other 
directorship(s)#

no. of Membership(s)/ 
no. of Chairmanship(s) 
of board Committees in 
other Companies ##board 

Meetings
Last aGM

(1) (2) (4) (5)

Mr.P.Viswanathan 4 4 yes 3 3 as Chairman 

Mr. b.r Menon 4 2 no nil nil

Mr. Munish dayal 4 4 yes 2 2

Mr. rahul bhasin* 4 1 no - -

Mr.anand Tandon** 4 2 yes - -

Mr. Pradeep Mallick*** 4 2 yes - -

Mr. Gopichand S**** 4 1 no -                -

* Mr. rahul bhasin ceased to be director from 13th february 2014.
**   Mr.anand Tandon ceased to be director from 13th february 2014
*** Mr. Pradeep Mallick ceased to be director from 8th november 2013.
**** Mr. Gopichand S ceased to be director from 6th august 2013. 
# The directorships, held by directors as mentioned above, do not include alternate directorships and directorships in foreign 
companies, companies registered under Section 25 of the Companies act, 1956 and private limited companies.
## In accordance with Clause 49 of the Listing agreement, Memberships/Chairmanships of only audit Committees and 
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Shareholders’/Investors’ Grievance Committees in all public limited companies (excluding Inditrade Capital Limited) have been 
considered.

 Mr. rahul bhasin, Mr.anand Tandon, Mr. Pradeep Mallick and Mr. Gopichand S directors of the Company had resigned 
from the Company during the financial year; we have not furnished the details in column no. 4 & 5 regarding their no. of 
other directorship(s) and the no. of Membership(s)/ no. of Chairmanship(s) of board Committees in other Companies as on 
31.03.2014.

 Video/tele-conferencing facilities were used, on occasions, to facilitate directors present at other locations, to participate in the 
meetings.

iii. Number of Board meetings held with dates
 four board meetings were held during the year. The details of board meetings are given below: 

Date of Board Meeting Board strength Number of Directors Present

15th May 2013   6 4

06th august 2013   7 5

08th november 2013   5 4

13th february 2014   3 3

Board Committees:
Details of the Board Committees and other related information are provided hereunder:

Composition of Committees of the Board

audit  
Committee

stakeholders Relationship  
Committee

Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

1. Mr.P.Viswanathan

 Independent non-executive director 
- Chairman.

2. Mr. b.r Menon

 Independent non-executive director

3. Mr. Munish dayal

 Professional non- executive director

1.Mr. b.r Menon

Independent non-executive director – 
Chairman.

2.Mr.P.Viswanathan

Independent non-executive director

3.Mr. Munish dayal

Professional non- executive director

1.Mr. b.r Menon

Independent non-executive director – 
Chairman.

2.Mr.P.Viswanathan

Independent non-executive director.

3.Mr. Munish dayal

Professional non- executive director

Meetings of Board Committees held during the year and Directors’ attendance:
Board  
Committee

audit  
Committee

stakeholders  
Relationship Committee

Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Meetings held 4 1 1
directors’ attendance
1. Mr.P.Viswanathan 4 na na
2. Mr. b.r Menon 2 nil nil
3. Mr. Pradeep Mallick 2 1 1
4. Mr. Munish dayal 4 1 na
5. Mr. rahul bhasin na na 1
6. Mr. anand Tandon na na na
7. Mr. Gopichand S na na na
na –not a Member of the Committee.
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3. Audit Committee:
i. Composition of the Committee:
 audit Committee comprises of Mr.P.Viswanathan as the 

Chairman and Mr. b.r Menon and Mr. Munish dayal as 
Members of the Committee.

 The Committee’s composition meets with requirements 
of Section 177 of the Companies act, 2013 and Clause 
49 of the Listing agreement. all Members of the audit 
Committee have knowledge of accounting and financial 
management. Mr. P. Viswanathan, Chairman of the audit 
Committee is a Chartered accountant by profession and 
has got over 36 years of experience in the field of finance 
and accounting.

ii. Meetings and attendance during the year
 four meetings of the audit Committee were held during 

the year. The details of meetings and attendance are given 
on page number 26.

iii. Powers of the audit Committee includes the 
following:
•	 To	investigate	any	activity	within	its	terms	of	reference.

•	 To	 seek	 information	 from	 any	 employee	 of	 the	
Company.

•	 To	obtain	outside	legal	or	other	professional	advice.

•	 To	 secure	 attendance	 of	 outsiders	 with	 relevant	
expertise.

iv. Role of the audit Committee inter alia, includes 
the following:

•	 Oversight	of	the	Company’s	financial	reporting	process	
and the disclosure of its financial information to 
ensure that the financial statement is correct, sufficient 
and credible.

•	 Recommending	 to	 the	 Board,	 the	 appointment,	
reappointment and if required, the replacement or 
removal of statutory auditors and taxation of audit fees 
and other terms of appointment.

•	 Recommending	 the	 professional	 fee	 payable	 to	
statutory auditors for any other services rendered by 
them.

•	 Recommending	 to	 the	 Board,	 the	 appointment,	 re-
appointment of Internal auditors and fixation of the 
professional fee payable to them.

•	 Reviewing	 with	 the	 management,	 annual	 financial	
statements and auditor’s report thereon before 
submission to the board for its approval.

•	 Reviewing	 with	 the	 management,	 the	 quarterly	
financial statements before submission to the board 
for its approval.

•	 Reviewing	and	monitoring	the	auditor’s	independence	
and performance and effectiveness of audit process.

•	 Approval	 or	 any	 subsequent	 modification	 of	
transactions of the Company with related parties.

•	 Scrutiny	of	inter-corporate	loans	and	investments.

 Mr. Guruswami raj G, Company Secretary of the Company 
is the Secretary to the audit Committee.

4. nomination and remuneration 
Committee:

i. Composition of the Committee
 The nomination and remuneration Committee comprises 

of Mr. b.r Menon as the Chairman, Mr.P.Viswanathan and 
Mr. Munish dayal as Members of the Committee.

 Pursuant to the provisions of 178 of the Companies act, 
2013, the name of the remuneration/eSoP Committee 
of the board had been changed as nomination and 
remuneration Committee on May 27, 2014.

ii. Meetings and attendance during the year
 one meeting of the nomination and remuneration 

Committee was held during the year. The details of 
meetings and attendance are given on page number 26.

iii. Role of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee inter alia, includes the following:
•	 To	 recommend/review	 remuneration	 of	 Key	

Managerial Personnel.

•	 To	administer	the	Employees	Stock	Option	2008	and	
2010 scheme of the Company.

•	 To	 carry	out	 any	other	 function	 as	mandated	by	 the	
board from time to time and / or enforced by any 
statutory notification, amendment or modification, as 
may be applicable

 Composition and the terms of reference of the nomination 
and remuneration Committee is in line with the 
requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing agreement and 
provisions of the Companies act, 2013.
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 iv. Details of Directors’ Remuneration including sitting fees:
  details of remuneration including sitting fees paid to directors during 2013-14: 

Name of  
the Director

Basic Pay Perquisites sitting Fees stock Options 
granted

Mr. P. Viswanathan nil nil 90000 nil
Mr. b. r Menon nil nil 22500 nil
Mr. Pradeep Mallick nil nil 47500 nil
Mr. Munish dayal nil nil nil nil
Mr. rahul bhasin nil nil nil nil
Mr. anand Tandon nil nil nil nil
Mr. Gopichand S  56637 59363 nil nil

5. Stakeholders’ relationship Committee:
i. Composition of the Committee
 Stakeholders’ relationship Committee comprises of Mr. b.r Menon as its chairman, Mr.P.Viswanathan and Mr. Munish dayal as 

Members of the Committee.

 Mr.Guruswami raj G, Company Secretary acted as the Compliance officer of the Committee.

 Pursuant to the provisions of 178 of the Companies act, 2013, the name of the Investor Grievance Committee of the board had 
been changed as Stakeholders relationship Committee on May 27, 2014.

ii. Meetings and attendance during the year
 one meeting of the Stakeholders’ relationship Committee was held during the year. The details of meetings and attendance are 

given on page number 26.

iii. Role of the stakeholders Relationship Committee inter alia, includes the following:
 The Stakeholders relationship Committee is primarily responsible to review all matters connected with the Company’s transfer 

of securities and redressal of shareholders’ / investors’ complaints. The Committee also monitors the implementation and 
compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct for prohibition of Insider Trading.

 Composition and the terms of reference of the Stakeholders relationship Committee are in line with the requirements of Clause 
49 of the Listing agreement and provisions of the Companies act, 2013.

iv. Details of queries and grievances received and attended by the Company during the year 2013-2014 is given 
below:

Pending as on 1st april 2013 received during the 
year

resolved during the 
year

Pending as on 
31.03.2014

nil nil nil nil

6. General Body Meetings:
i. Details of last General Meetings:
 details of last three annual General Meetings are given below:

Details of last three annual General Meetings
Meeting Date time Venue No of special Resolution Passed

19th 27.09.2013 10.00 a.M hotel Park Central, Kochi – 686 017 3
18th 12.09.2012 10.00 a.M hotel Presidency, Cochin  - 682018 1
17th 26.09.2011 10.00 a.M hotel Presidency, Cochin  - 682018 1
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ii. special Resolutions were passed in the last three aGMs, with requisite majority:
Financial year to which 
aGM relates

Date of aGM Issue type of  Resolution

2012-13 27.09.2013 1. appointment of Mr. anand Tandon as the 
Managing director of the Company without 
remuneration.

2. alteration of articles of association of the 
Company

3. Change the name of the Company from “JrG 
Securities Limited” to “Inditrade Capital Limited”.

Special resolution

2011-12 12.09.2012
appointment of Mr. Gopichand S as the Managing 
director at a remuneration of H30 Lakhs p.a

Special resolution

2010-11 26.09.2011 fixing the remuneration of Managing director Special resolution

7. Disclosures:
i. Disclosures on Related Party transactions
 during the year, the Company did not enter into any material transaction with its promoters, the directors or the management 

and their relatives, amongst others. The details of related Party transactions are set out in notes to financial Statement.

ii. Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower Policy
 The Company has adopted the Vigil Mechanism/Whistle blower Policy on 27th May, 2014. Pursuant to which employees of the 

Company can raise their concerns relating to the fraud, malpractice or any other untoward activity or event which is against the 
interest of the Company or society as a whole.

iii. adoption of Mandatory and Non- Mandatory Requirements of Clause 49
 The Company has complied with all mandatory requirements of the Clause 49 of the Listing agreement. The Company has 

adopted non-mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing agreement.

8. Means of Communication with Shareholders
 The quarterly and half-yearly/annual financial results were forthwith communicated to the bombay Stock exchange Limited 

(bSe), where the shares of the Company are listed, as soon as they were approved and taken on record by the board of directors. 
Public notices and financial results were published in leading newspapers, namely, business Line in english and Mangalam in 
Malayalam. The financial results, Corporate Governance report and Shareholding pattern of the Company were also put up on 
Company’s website www.inditrade.com.

i. Publications of the financial results in the year 2013-2014:
Quarter/annual Date of Board 

Meeting to 
approve the result

Date of 
Publication

English News 
Paper

Malayalam 
Newspaper

annual 15.05.2013 17.05.2013 business Line Mangalam
quarterly (I) 06.08.2013 08.08.2013 business Line Mangalam
quarterly(II) 08.11.2013 10.11.2013 business Line Mangalam
quarterly(III) 13.02.2014 15.02.2014 business Line Mangalam

ii. Website: 
The Company’s website (www.inditrade.com) contains a separate dedicated section ‘Investor relations’ where shareholders’ 
information is available. The Company’s annual report is also available in a user-friendly and downloadable form. 

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

29



9. General Shareholders Information:
i. 

Incorporation details The Company is registered in the State of Kerala, India. The Corporate Identity 
number (CIn) allotted to the Company by the Ministry of Corporate affairs 
(MCa) is L67120KL1994PLC008265.

aGM date 26th September, 2014
Time & Venue at 10.30 a.m. at “The renai Cochin”, P.b number.2310, edappally- Palarivattom 

road, Palarivattom, Kochi, Kerala - 682 025
date of book Closure from Closing of business hours  of 19th September 2014 to 26th September 2014, 

both days inclusive.
financial year 1st april  to 31st March
approval of financial results proposed qe 30 June 2014 1st or 2nd week of aug 2014

qe 30 Sep 2014 1st or 2nd week of nov 2014
qe 31 dec 2014 1st or 2nd week of feb 2015
ye 31 Mar 2015 3rd or 4th week of May 2015     

Listing on Stock exchanges The bombay Stock exchange Limited 
The listing fees for the financial year 2013-14 were duly paid to the above Stock 
exchange within time. 

ii. Details of listing with Exchange & stock Code:
Name of the stock Exchange Stock Code

The bombay Stock exchange Limited  532745    
ISIn allotted by depositories  Ine347h01012

iii. stock Market Price Data during the Financial year 2013-2014
Month high Price Low Price Total Turnover (H)

apr-2013 9.6 6.99 7,52,374
May-2013 9.2 7.33 2,01,960
Jun-2013 8.7 5.65 2,72,985
Jul-2013 8.99 6.51 49,778
aug-2013 8.4 6.96 42,321
Sep-2013 8.15 7.3 50,683
oct-2013 8 6.64 1,45,948
nov-2013 7.87 6.51 1,86,604
dec-2013 7.55 6.49 93,830
Jan-2014 7.3 6.21 2,95,124
feb-2014 7.03 5.58 13,72,180
Mar-2014 7.63 5.5 5,76,098

(Source: This information is compiled from the data available from the websites of bSe)

iv. Distribution of shareholding as on 31st March 2014
Category
Code

Category of  
shareholder

Number of
shareholders

total number of
shares

as a percentage 
of (a+B+C)

(a) shareholding of Promoter and Promoter 
Group

(1) Indian - -
(2) foreign 2 11531558 49.3802

total shareholding of Promoter and 
Promoter Group

2 11531558 49.3802
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Category
Code

Category of  
shareholder

Number of
shareholders

total number of
shares

as a percentage 
of (a+B+C)

(B) Public shareholding
(1) Institutions 1 698437 2.9908
(2) non-institutions 5885 11122631 47.6291

total Public shareholding 5886 11821068 50.6199
(C) shares held by Custodians and against which 

Depository Receipts have been issued
(1) Promoter and Promoter Group - - -
(2) Public - - -

Grant total(a)+(B)+(C) 5888 23352626 100.00

v. shareholding Pattern by size as on 31.03.2014
shareholding Pattern by size as on 31.03.2014

No. of shares shareholders No. of shares
001-500 4842 82.2351 767427 3.2863
501-1000 474 8.0503 371643 1.5914
1001-2000 223 3.7874 346462 1.4836
2001-3000 90 1.5285 232055 0.9937
3001-4000 44 0.7473 158825 0.6801
4001-5000 39 0.6624 187362 0.8023
5001-10000 64 1.0870 471676 2.0198
10001 & above 112 1.9020 20817176 89.1428
total 5888 100.00 23352626 100.00

vi. Details of shares held by the Director as on 31.03.2014
No. of shares shareholders No. of shares

Mr. P. Viswanathan Independent non executive director nil
Mr. b. r. Menon Independent non executive director 22,649
Mr. Munish dayal Professional non executive director nil
Mr. rahul bhasin non executive director nil
Mr. Pradeep Mallick Independent non executive director nil
Mr. anand Tandon executive director(Managing director till 13th february 2014) 1,85,000
Mr. Gopichand S executive director (Managing director till 06th august 2013) nil

vii. Dematerialisation of shares

  as on 31st March, 2014, 99.836% of shares of the Company has been dematerialized and the remaining 0.164% shares are also 
been taken up for dematerialization.

 shares held in demat and physical modes as on March 31, 2014 are as below: 
Mode of holding shareholding % to total paid up share capital

nSdL 21788847 93.303

CdSL 1525521 6.533

Physical 38258 0.164

Total 23352626 100

iv. Distribution of shareholding as on 31st March 2014 (Contd.)
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viii. Details of utilization of IPO proceeds:   (Amount in lacs)
No. of shares Envisaged 

in the 
prospectus 
shareholders

Change
in 
utilization *

amount 
utilized as 
on
31st March 
2013

Utilized 
during the 
year

total fund 
utilized 
(Including 
change in 
utilization)

amount 
remaining 
to be 
utilized

Middle eastern operations 560.00 (366.66) 193.34 - 193.34 -
Technology up gradation
Computer software

160.00
- 110.00 - 110.00

Computer hardware - 50.00 - 50.00
regional offices 600.00 - 628.81 - 628.81
Issue expenses 130.00 - 147.86 - 147.86
opening new branches in India - 200.00 124.07 14.67 138.74 61.26
Infrastructure development for i-trade - 40.00 15.23 - 15.23 24.77
other infrastructural 
requirements.

- 126.66 123.23 - 123.23 3.43

Total 1450.00 1392.54 14.67 1407.21 89.46
Means of finance
Issue proceeds 1360.54
Internal accruals 46.67
Total utilized 1407.21

*In the annual General Meeting of the Company held on 25th July 2009, the shareholders had given their consent to change 
the utilization of the aforesaid monies totaling H366.66 Lakhs, raised by the Company during the IPo of its shares, from what 
was specified in the object clause in the prospectus, inter alia, to expansion activities of the Company in India by opening new 
branches, infrastructure development for I-Trade and other infrastructure and technology requirements.

ix. Unclaimed Dividend
 Section 124 of the Companies, act 2013 mandates that the Company transfer the dividend that has been unclaimed for a period 

of seven years from the unpaid dividend account of the Company to the Investor education and Protection fund (IePf). In 
accordance with the following schedules, the dividend for the years mentioned as follows, if unclaimed within a period of Seven 
years will be transferred to the IePf:

Year type of 
dividend

Dividend per 
shares

Date of 
Declaration

Due date for 
transfer

amount

2007 final H1.50 31.07.2007 05.10.2014 107365.5

2008 final H0.75 15.07.2008 20.09.2015 145063.5

 during the financial year 2013-2014 Company has credited an unclaimed dividend of H86457 and unclaimed application money 
received by company of H56000 to IePf pursuant to Section 205 C of the Companies act, 1956.

 Pursuant to the provisions of Investor education and Protection fund (uploading of information regarding unpaid and unclaimed 
amounts lying with companies) rules, 2012, the Company has uploaded the details of unpaid and unclaimed amounts lying with 
the Company as on 27th September 2013 (date of last annual General Meeting) on website of the Ministry of Corporate affairs.

x. share transfer system
 The Company appointed M/s. big Share Services (P) Ltd as its registrar & Transfer agents. Share transfers are processed and 

approved, subject to receipt of all requisite documents.

 The Company seeks to ensure that all transfers are approved for registration within the stipulated period. Pursuant to Clause 47 
(c) of the Listing agreement with Stock exchanges, certificates on half-yearly basis have been issued by a Practising Company 
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Secretary for due compliance of share transfer formalities by the Company.

 Pursuant to SebI (depositories and Participants) regulations, 1996, certificates have also been received from a Practising 
Company Secretary for timely dematerialisation of the shares of the Company and for conducting a reconciliation of Share 
Capital audit on a quarterly basis for reconciliation of the share capital of the Company.

 With a view to expediting the approval process, the board of directors authorised the Share Transfer Committee to approve the 
transfer of shares.

xi. Equity shares in the suspense account
 In terms of Clause 5a(I) and Clause 5a(II) of the Listing agreement, the Company reports the following details in respect of 

equity shares lying in the suspense accounts which were issued in demat form and physical form, respectively:

Year Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
Equity shares

aggregate number of shareholders and the outstanding shares in the suspense 
account lying as on 1st april, 2013

3 450

number of shareholders who approached the Company for transfer of shares from 
suspense account during the year

nil nil

number of Shareholders to whom shares were transferred from the suspense 
account during the year

nil nil

aggregate number of Shareholders and the outstanding shares in the suspense 
account lying as on 31st March, 2014

3 450

 note: The voting right on these shares lying in the demat Suspense account shall remain frozen till the rightful owners of such 
shares claim the shares.

xii. subsidiary Companies: 
Clause 49 defines a “material non-listed Indian subsidiary” as an unlisted subsidiary, incorporated in India, whose turnover or 
net worth (i.e. paid up capital and free reserves) exceeds 20% of the consolidated turnover or net worth respectively, of the listed 
holding company and its subsidiaries in the immediately preceding accounting year. under this definition, Inditrade derivatives 
and Commodities Limited and JrG fincorp Limited are a material non listed subsidiary Company of the Company.

Pursuant to Clause 49 of the Listing agreement, JrG fincorp Limited and Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited, 
which are material non listed subsidiary Companies of Inditrade Capital Ltd has on its board, Mr. P. Viswanathan who is a non-
executive Independent director of the holding Company.

The Company monitors performance of subsidiary companies, inter alia, by the following means:

financial statements of the subsidiary Companies are reviewed regularly by the Company’s audit Committee.

Minutes of board and audit Committee meetings of unlisted subsidiary companies were placed and taken on record by the 
board.

Mr. P. Viswanathan, Independent non- executive director of the Company had been appointed as a director of JrG fincorp 
Limited and Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited from 24/01/2012 and 03/02/2012 respectively.

xiii. Management Discussion and analysis
 The Management discussion and analysis is given separately and forming part of this annual report.

xiv. Re-appointment/appointment of Directors
 In accordance with the provisions of Section 152 of the Companies act, 2013 and the articles of association of the Company, 

Mr. Munish dayal (dIn: 01683836), director, retiring by rotation at the ensuing annual General Meeting is eligible for re-
appointment. 
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 Pursuant to Section 149 and other applicable provisions of the Companies act, 2013, your directors are seeking the appointment 
of Mr.P.Viswanathan (dIn: 00011136), and Mr. b. r. Menon (dIn: 00113329) as Independent non-executive directors of your 
Company for five consecutive years from 26th September, 2014.

 The Company has received declarations from all the Independent directors of the Company conforming that they meet with the 
criteria of independence as prescribed both under sub-section (6) of Section 149 of the Companies act, 2013 and under Clause 
49 of the Listing agreement with bombay Stock exchange Limited.

xv. Code for prevention of Insider trading Practices
 In compliance with the SebI regulation on prevention of insider trading, the Company instituted a comprehensive code of 

conduct for its management and staff in line with the SebI Insider Trading Guidelines. The Code lays down guidelines, which 
advises them on procedures to be followed and disclosures to be made, while dealing with shares of the Company, and cautioning 
them of the consequences of violations.

10. Adoption of non- Mandatory requirements of Clause 49
The Company has adopted following non-mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing agreement:

i. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
 The Company has constituted nomination and remuneration Committee meeting the requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing 

agreement and the Companies act, 2013.

ii. audit Qualifications
 during the period under review, there were no audit qualifications in the Companies’ financial statements. The Company 

continues to adopt the best accounting practices and has complied with the accounting Standards.

iii. training of Board Members
 all the non-executive directors have rich experience and expertise in functional areas and attend various programs in their 

personal capacities that keep them abreast of relevant developments. There is no formal system of evaluating individual directors.

 quarterly updates on relevant statutory is regularly circulated to the directors and were discussed at each board Meeting.

 MD/CFO Certification
 The Manager of the Company gives annual certification on financial reporting and internal controls to the board in terms of 

clause 49. The Manager of the Company also gives quarterly certification on financial results while placing the financial results 
before the board in terms of clause 41.

 Investor Contact details
For queries relating to Compliance, legal & secretarial For queries relating to Financial statements

Mr.Guruswami raj G
Company Secretary
Tele:+ 91 9895213707
e mail: guruswamy.raj@inditrade.com

Ms. Geniya banerjee
Chief finance officer
Tele: :+ 91 9397665680
e mail: geniya.banerjee@inditrade.com

registrar and Share Transfer agent

bigshare Services Pvt. Ltd
e-2/3, ansa Industrial estate, Sakivihar road, Saki naka, andheri (e), Mumbai-400 072

e mail: bhagwan@bigshareonline.com

for and on behalf of the Board

Place : Gurgaon P. Viswanathan
date  : 7th august, 2014  Chairman
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To
The Members of
Inditrade Capital limited (Formerly known as JRG securities limited)

I have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Inditrade Capital Limited (formerly known as JrG 
Securities Limited) (“the Company”) for the year ended on March 31, 2014 as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing agreement of the 
said Company with Stock exchanges in India.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. My examination was limited 
to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of corporate 
governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the explanations given to me, I certify that the Company has 
complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above mentioned Listing agreement.

I further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness 
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Vivek Kumar
Company Secretary in Practice

Place : Kochi Membership no. 30180
dated : 08th august, 2014 Certificate of Practice no. 11036

To
The Members of
Inditrade Capital limited (Formerly known as JRG securities limited)

This is to confirm that the board has laid down a Code of Conduct for all board Members and Senior Management of the Company.

It is further confirmed that all directors and Senior Management Personnel of the Company have affirmed Compliance with Code of 
Conduct of the Company as at 31st March, 2014, as envisaged in clause 49 of the Listing agreement with bombay Stock exchange 
Limited.

Place: Gurgaon Guruswami Raj G
date: 7th august, 2014 Manager

Certification on  
Corporate Governance

Declaration on 
Code of Conduct
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economy Overview:
India was in its sixth consecutive year of economic slowdown 
and recorded real GdP growth of just 4.7% in financial year 
2013-14, almost half of that of peak GdP of 9.5% in financial 
year 2007-08. The last financial year saw continued sluggishness 
in the investment and capex cycles, high inflationary pressures 
with significant supply side gaps, a consequent decline in 
savings rates, sluggish real fixed capital formation, and very low 
market confidence. Government efforts to manage a weak local 
currency continued, but the current account deficit remained 
at 4.3% with Indian households continuing to demand for 
anti-inflationary savings in the form of gold. Physical savings 
allocation by households increased to 64%, the highest in the 
last decade, clearly showing consumer preferences of storing 
wealth in a negative real interest rate scenario.

a volatile monsoon this year kept inflation high, especially high 
food prices, which continued to pose significant challenges to our 
industry amongst others, despite the fact that inflation cooled 
down marginally from 9.5% in the first half of the year to 8.3% in 
March. The government also continuously increased diesel and 
petrol prices last year in an effort to manage public finances and 
subsidies burdening the fiscal deficit, also contributing to higher 
core inflation.

There were some positive developments towards the latter 
half of the year. The government accelerated its tightening of 
fiscal deficit, resulting in a fiscal deficit declining from 5.7 per 

cent of GdP in 2011-12 to 4.9 per cent in 2012-13 and 4.7 per 
cent in 2013-14. The value of rupee that had plunged to an all 
time low against dollar to 68.36 to a uS dollar on 28 august 
2013, also gradually strengthened and the year ended with the 
exchange rate averaging 61 per uS dollar in March 2014, owing 
to measures taken by the government and the reserve bank of 
India (rbI).

These developments on the external account front have generated 
some optimism that the Indian economy is better prepared to 
confront its internal challenges as well as the challenges of global 
policy reversals. The corrections in fiscal and current account 
deficits augur well for macroeconomic stabilization. Post 
elections, with a stable government at the centre, there are strong 
expectations of an economic and capex cycle pick up. business 
confidence has already improved and with the right capital 
allocation and timely deployment, capital flows may also pick 
up. Therefore the growth is expected to improve to 6% plus in 
the medium term. a pick up in the investment cycle will also be 
disinflationary, which is a significant positive development for 
your industry as savings are expected to flow back to financial 
products and businesses tap the capital markets for growth.

Industry overview
The equity markets bSe SenSeX moved from 18,836 points 
to 22,386 points between fy 2013 and fy 2014, recorded an 
increase of 18.85% over the previous year and nSe CnX nIfTy 
moved from 5683 to 6704 between fy 2013 and fy 2014 

ManaGeMenT dISCuSSIon and anaLySIS
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recorded an increase of 17.96% over the previous year. Traded 
volumes also increased from 32,57,086 crores in 2012-2013 
to 33,41,338 crores in 2013-2014. The rise in market volumes 
and valuations may be in contrast with the negative economic 
environment of the country, but post March 2014 expectations 
of a very positive election outcome with a stable government 
increased market confidence, thus showing in market volumes 
and valuations. average trading volumes from april to february 
2014 were 2,72,914 crores and just in March 2014 were 3,39,282 
crores. India P/e went up from 17.76 at the start of the year to 
19.16 at the end of the year.

The brokerage market, especially the retail brokerage market 
remained lackluster for most of last year as Indian households, 
with shrinking savings rates and rising inflationary pressures, 
chose to stay away from the capital markets and financial 
savings instruments this financial year as well. Savings rates 
dropped to 22% last year, with 64% of this being allocated to 
physical products like gold and real estate, and 36% to financial 
products like fixed income securities. The brokerage fee reduced 
to 12.57 crores, as compared to 47.62 crores in fy2007-08. 
This is primarily because of a significant change in the nature 
of trading on Indian bourses – while high yield cash volumes 
formed 27.78 % and derivative products formed 72.27 % of 
the market volumes in fy2007-08, this has reduced to cash 
volumes of 6.56% and derivative volumes of 93.43% in fy2013-
14. derivative products, futures and options are much lower 

yield than cash products – therefore despite trading volumes 
increasing over the last few years, the brokerage pie has reduced.

India has an oversupply of 1415 brokerage houses today, with 
most houses struggling to retain customers as they shy away 
from the capital markets and equity products. retail brokerage 
houses continued to struggle in retaining declining clientele by 
offering deep discounts to retain existing customer franchise. 
The cost of acquisition of a new brokerage customer (sales & 
marketing, business development, KyC, compliance cost) in 
these subdued markets was higher than the revenue generated 
by the customer. any growth in revenues from new customer 
acquisition comes at a significant cost and cash burn.

brokerage houses are therefore focused on cost management 
– reducing fixed cost and translating them to variable costs 
wherever possible by downsizing and outsourcing. The year saw 
some large, pan-India brokerage houses shutting shop fully and 
exiting the business completely.

Commodities trading also saw a rough year with falling 
commodity volumes and metal and bullion prices. further, 
governance issues in commodity exchanges like nSeL and 
MCX have crippled several commodity broking houses 
with outstanding proprietary and client positions awaiting 
settlements.

The onset of the recent positive election outcome and 
expectations from the stable government of better governance 

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

37



and improved economic growth in the recent months, have 
infused the markets with confidence. There are early signs of 
the retail investor re-entering the market. Whether this is a 
temporary situation or the beginning of a take-off of the Indian 
capital markets remains to be seen.

review of operations
The Inditrade Group derives its revenues from three activities.

I. Fees and Commissions
The brokerage business of the group continues to remain under-
pressure and the retail broking continues. In the year under 
review, the Company has generated a revenue of H13.23 crores 
from equity broking, 6.20 crore from commodity broking. The 
Company earned income through financial distribution support 
activity to the tune of H1.42 crore. The Company has executed a 
disciplined program of identifying profitable revenues and getting 
rid of unprofitable top line that included doing away with loss-
generating customers, unproductive business associate.

II. Interest and treasury:
The retail margin lending book for capital and commodity market 
activities did not grow in line with subdued broking business. 
The group has therefore expanded its lending activities to other 
activities such as secured business loans like promoter funding, 
real estate funding and loan against shares. We have generated 
interest income of H5.50 crores through lending activities.

III. Other
The company has started to focus on taking advantage of available 
arbitrage opportunities. The Company has earned revenue of 
H78.88 lacs through arbitrage activities.

during the year the Company has opened 1610 and 892 of new 
accounts in equity & Commodity segment respectively. Company 
has opened 1386 new dP accounts. during the year company 
focused on re-activating the dormant clients and accordingly a 
total of 5582 clients’ account have been re-activated. during the 
year the Company has taken steps to consolidate branches in 
the major cities and also closed many branches in Maharashtra 
including Mumbai and the branch at new delhi. now, the 
Company has 39 branches across Kerala, Tamilnadu, Karnataka 
and andhra Pradesh.

The Company embarked upon a cost reduction program and 
achieved much success in it. as branches were consolidated, 
operating costs, employee costs, technology and communication 
costs were reduced significantly, by renegotiating contracts with 
vendors, outsourcing and re-allocating resources etc. resultantly, 

the Company saved costs of H12.90 crores – total expenses were 
H16.28 crores in the last year compared to H23.20 crores in the 
previous financial year, resulting in savings of 29.83 %.

during the year under review the Company was subjected to 
inspection by regulatory authorities. national Stock exchange of 
India Limited (nSe) and national Security depository Limited 
(nSdL) had observed that “there are no adverse findings” and 
“no deviation observed” respectively. It shows that the compliance 
and internal control measures are in tandem with regulatory 
requirements.

Outlook 2014-15
The first quarter has shown some green shoots of growth with 
a new stable government in place and action being taken in 
managing the twin deficit situation. The economy is expected to 
grow at 5-5.5 percent in the ensuing year. a read of the Index of 
Industrial Production (IIP), export growth, Purchasing Managers’ 
Index (PMI), car sales, two wheeler sales, are all pointing that 
towards an improvement from the bottom. The IIP data is at 19 
month high, car sales at 10 month high, electricity generation at 
recent high suggest that a bull market started in Indian economy. 
The recent union budget focus on increasing savings and 
investments and this may increase the trend in the investment 
cycle.

The saving rate in the economy has been on a southward direction 
in the past few years. now almost 70% of household net worth is 
in gold and real estate and around 2.5% is in equities. derivatives 
accounted for 93 percent of the total turnover in fy14 which 
suggests that market volume is mainly from traders. after a long 
time, inflows to mutual funds have started now. It is important to 
note that in recent years there has been a great push by regulators 
towards investor education programmes. The rising valuations 
and increased investor participation indicate that investors are 
now becoming more hopeful about the economic outlook and are 
feeling more confident that the economy has bottomed out.

Financial Performance:
on a standalone basis, during the year under review, Company 
had earned revenue of H15.37 crores as against H20.16 crores in 
the previous year. The expenditure stood at H16.28 crores resulting 
in a loss of H0.91 crores as against of loss H3.03 crores in previous 
year.

Commodity subsidiary, Inditrade derivatives and Commodities 
Limited recorded total revenue of H7.33 crores as against H10.95 
crores during the previous year. The expenditure during the year 
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stood at H10.52 crores, which resulted in a loss of H3.19 crores as 
against a loss of H4.36 crores in the previous year.

Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited recorded revenue 
of H0.29 crores as against H0.39 crores in the previous year. The 
total expenditure stood H0.39 crores, which resulted in a loss of 
H0.10 crores as against a loss of H0.09 crores in the corresponding 
previous year.

nbfC Subsidiary, JrG fincorp Limited recorded revenue of 
H8.17 crores as against H7.81 crores during the previous year. 
The expenditure during the year stood at H5.17 crores, which 
resulted in a profit of H3.00 crores before tax. The profit after tax 
for the year stood at H2.03 crores as against profit of H1.61 crores 
during the previous year.

Inditrade business Consultants Limited, recorded revenue 
of H1.52 crores as against H2.72 crores in the previous year. 
The expenditure during the year stood at H1.23 crores, and 
exceptional item of H2.90 crores, which resulted in a loss of H2.61 
crores as against loss of H0.16 crores during the previous year.

The total consolidated income of your Company for the year 
ended 31st March 2014 stood at H31.96 crores as against H40.91 
crores in the previous year and the expenditure stood at H32.88 
crores, which resulted in a consolidated loss before taxes of H3.82 
crores as against a loss of H4.79 crores during the previous year. 
after tax expense of H0.96 crores and Minority interest of H0.87 
crores, the consolidated loss for the year stood at H5.66 crores as 
against a loss of H6.55 crores in the previous year.

Opportunities and Threats
The rally in Indian equities since february this year has pushed 
up indices as they see record volumes and valuations. Indian 
businesses have come back to access the capital markets. The 
improvement in the economy will increase savings levels 
and increase household saving flows to the capital markets. 
This could be the end of a prolonged period of slowdown for 
brokerage houses and mark the start of a growth phase.

The past few years have been marked with intense competition 
and a reducing brokerage pie with sharply falling yields. This 
trend may not reversing in the current year as well given the 
oversupply of brokerage houses catering to a 2% allocation of 
household savings compared to a roughly 40% allocation in the 
developed markets. The geo-political crisis in Iraq, ukraine may 
endanger the global financial and economic recovery, this may 
lead to increase in oil prices and inflation may go up again.

risks and Concerns
Inditrade acknowledges the varied forms of inherent risk 

associated with the business and in the industry. We continue to 
evaluate the risk and try to take appropriate steps to mitigate the 
risk and protect ourselves from such risk.

The company maintains strict compliance and internal control 
mechanism and takes every possible step to ensure that it 
complies with changing regulatory requirements.

Internal Control Systems
Inditrade has a comprehensive and effective internal control 
environment to ensure accuracy of accounting records, 
compliance with all laws & regulations and compliance with all 
rules, procedures & guidelines prescribed by both regulatory 
authorities and the Management. The Company has appointed 
M/s rGn Price & Co, Kochi, as the internal auditors of the 
Company for the financial year 2013-14. The management duly 
considers and takes appropriate action on the recommendations 
made by the statutory auditors and internal auditors. The audit 
Committee of the board reviews the internal audit reports, 
inspection reports issued by regulatory authorities on a regular 
basis.

Human resources
Inditrade has taken several measures to right size its human 
resource and it has a dynamic workforce of 262 at the end of 
the year. The company has been taking appropriate measures 
to encourage the employees to qualify in nISM Certification 
exams and taking several initiatives to give continuous training 
to update their knowledge. employee recognition through 
incentive backed performance measures, significant effort in 
training the employees across management levels, initiatives 
focused on developing leadership qualities, fair and transparent 
performance appraisal and promotion policy have all helped in 
keeping the employees motivated to deliver their best results.

Cautionary note
Statements in the Management discussion and analysis 
describing the Company’s projections, estimates, or expectations 
may be forward-looking predictions within the meaning of 
applicable securities, laws and regulations. actual results may 
differ from such estimates and projections, among others, 
whether expressed or implied. factors which would make a 
significant difference to the Company’s operations include 
changes in economic conditions of the country, changes in 
government regulations and tax laws, and other environmental 
factors over which the Company does not have any control.
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To the Members of Inditrade Capital limited, Kochi

(formerly known as JRG Securities Limited)

I N DE PE N DE N t aU DI tOR s’  R E P ORt

report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Inditrade 
Capital Limited, Kochi (formerly known as JrG Securities Limited) 
(“the Company”), which comprise the balance Sheet as at March 31, 
2014, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash flow Statement 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of these financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows of the Company in accordance 
with the accounting Standards referred to in sub-section (3C) 
of Section 211 of the Companies act, 1956 (“the act”). This 
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance 
of internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Standards on auditing issued by the Institute 
of Chartered accountants of India. Those Standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 

the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. an 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the financial statements give the 
information required by the act in the manner so required and give 
a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India:

(a) in the case of the balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the 
Company as at March 31, 2014;

(b) in the case of the Statement of Profit and Loss, of the loss for 
the year ended on that date; and

(c) in the case of the Cash flow Statement, of the cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.

Other Matters
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
March 2013 were audited by another auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those statements on 14 May 2013.

report on Other Legal and regulatory requirements
1. as required by the Companies (auditors’ report) order, 2003 

(“the order”) issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (4a) of Section 227 of the act, we give 
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in the annexure, a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraphs 4 and 5 of the order.

2. as required by Section 227(3) of the act, we report that:

a. we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of our audit;

b. in our opinion proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our 
examination of those books;

c. the balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss and Cash 
flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement 
with the books of account;

d. in our opinion, the balance Sheet, Statement of Profit 
and Loss and Cash flow Statement comply with the 
accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of 
Section 211 of the act;

e. on the basis of written representations received from the 
directors as on March 31, 2014, and taken on record by the 
board of directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2014, from being appointed as a director in 
terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 274 of the 
act. 

for Haribhakti & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.103523W

s sUNDaRaRaMaN
Place: Chennai:  Partner
dated: May 27, 2014 Membership No.028423 A
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[Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other legal and Regulatory Requirements’ in the Independent auditors’ Report 
of even date to the members of Inditrade Capital limited (formerly known as JRG securities limited)  

on the financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2014]

annexure to Independent auditors’ Report

(i) (a)  The Company is in the process of updating its records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative details 
and situation of fixed assets

 (b)  The company has a regular programme of physical 
verification of its fixed assets by which all fixed assets 
are verified in a phased manner over a period of three 
years. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical 
verification is reasonable having regard to the size of 
the Company and the nature of its assets. In accordance 
with this programme certain fixed assets were verified 
during the year and no material discrepancies were 
noticed on such verification.

 (c)  In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, a substantial part of fixed 
assets has not been disposed of by the company during 
the year.

(ii) The Company is a service company, primarily rendering 
services as brokers to various stock exchanges. accordingly, 
paragraph 4 (ii) of the order is not applicable.

(iii) (a)  as informed, the Company has not granted any loans, 
secured or unsecured to companies, firms or other 
parties covered in the register maintained under 
section 301 of the Companies act, 1956. accordingly, 
paragraph 4 (iii)(b),(c) and (d) of the order are not 
applicable.

 (b)  The Company had taken loan from a company covered 
in the register maintained under section 301 of the 
Companies act, 1956. The maximum amount involved 
during the year was H3, 31, 14,990/- and the year-end 
balance was H1, 65, 08,297/-.

 (c)  In our opinion, the rate of interest and other terms 
and conditions for such loans are not, prima facie, 
prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

 (d)  In respect of the aforesaid loans, the company is 
regular in repaying the principal amounts as stipulated 
and has been regular in payment of interest.

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, there exists an adequate internal 
control system commensurate with the size of the Company 
and the nature of its business with regard to purchase of 
fixed assets and with regard to the sale of services. during 
the course of our audit, we have not observed any continuing 
failure to correct weakness in internal control system of the 
company.

(v) (a)  according to the information and explanations given 
to us, we are of the opinion that the particulars of 
contracts or arrangements referred to in section 301 of 
the Companies act, 1956 that need to be entered into 
the register maintained under section 301 have been 
so entered.

 (b)  In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the transactions made 
in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements 
exceeding value of rupees five lakhs have been 
entered into during the financial year at prices which 
are reasonable having regard to the prevailing market 
prices at the relevant time.

(vi) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the company has not accepted any 
deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 
58a and 58aa of the act and the rules framed there under.

(vii) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(viii) The Central Government of India has not prescribed the 
maintenance of cost records under clause (d) of sub-section 
(1) of Section 209 of the act for any of the products of the 
company.

(ix) (a)  The Company is regular in depositing with appropriate 
authorities undisputed statutory dues including 
provident fund, investor education and protection 
fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-
tax, wealth-tax, service tax, and other material 
statutory dues applicable to it, though there exists 
delay in few cases.
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   according to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed dues in respect of provident fund, investor 
education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, service tax, cess and other statutory dues which 
were outstanding, at the year end for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

 (b)  according to the records of the Company, the dues outstanding of income-tax, sales-tax, wealth-tax, service tax, customs 
duty, excise duty and cess on account of any dispute, are as follows:

Name of the  
statute

Nature of  
dues

amount* Financial Year for which 
the amount relates

Forum where 
dispute is pending

Income tax act, 
1961

disallowed expenditure H1,67,84,040 2006-07; 2007-08; 2008-09; 
2010-11; 2011-12

Commissioner appeal

* of which the H6 00 000 is paid under dispute.

(x)  In our opinion, the accumulated losses of the company 
are not more than fifty percent of its net worth. further, 
the company has not incurred cash losses during the 
financial year covered by our audit and in the immediately 
preceding financial year.

(xi)  The company did not have any outstanding dues to any 
financial institution, bank or debenture holder during the 
year.

(xii)  according to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on the documents and records produced to 
us, the company has not granted loans & advances on the 
basis of security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and 
other securities.

(xiii)  In our opinion, the Company is not a chit fund or a nidhi 
/ mutual benefit fund / society. Therefore, the provision of 
paragraph 4(xiii) of the order is not applicable.

(xiv)  In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has maintained 
proper records of the transactions and contracts in respect 
of trading in securities, derivatives and other investments 
during the year and timely entries have been made therein. 
further, such securities, derivatives and other investments 
have been held by the Company in its own name.

(xv)  In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the company has not given any 
guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial 
institutions except a corporate guarantee of H7,00,00,000/- 
given to its subsidiary company.

(xvi) The Company has not obtained any term loans.

(xvii) according to the information and explanations given to us 
and on an overall examination of the balance sheet of the 
Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term 
basis have been used for long-term investment.

(xviii) according to the information and explanation given to us, 
the Company has not made any preferential allotment of 
shares to parties and companies covered in the register 
maintained under Section 301 of the Companies act, 
1956.

(xix) The Company did not have any outstanding debentures 
during the year.

(xx) The Company has not raised money by way of public issue 
during the year.

(xxi) during the course of our examination of the books and 
records of the company, carried out in accordance with 
the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, 
we have neither come across any instance of fraud on or by 
the company, noticed or reported during the year, nor have 
we been informed of such case by the management.

for Haribhakti & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.103523W

s sUNDaRaRaMaN
Place: Chennai:  Partner
dated: May 27, 2014 Membership No.028423
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Note as at  
31 March, 2014

as at 
31 March, 2013

EQUItY aND lIaBIlItIEs
shareholders' funds
Share capital 3  23,28,55,010  23,28,55,010 
reserves and surplus 4  45,74,01,632  46,65,48,264 

 69,02,56,642  69,94,03,274 
Non-current liabilities
other long-term liabilities 6  1,34,18,612  1,33,00,942 

 1,34,18,612  1,33,00,942 
Current liabilities
Trade payables 5  14,80,03,108  9,76,87,846 
other current liabilities 6  3,91,55,433  3,80,27,356 

 18,71,58,541  13,57,15,202 
 89,08,33,795  84,84,19,418 

assEts
Non-current assets
Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 7  2,50,97,393  4,77,19,629 
Intangible fixed assets 8  36,10,681  82,76,108 

 2,87,08,074  5,59,95,737 
non-current investments 9  36,69,35,250  36,69,35,250 
Long-term loans and advances 10  8,62,24,611  8,39,25,982 

 48,18,67,935  50,68,56,969 
Current assets
Current investments 11  11,91,60,571  -   
Trade receivables 12  12,84,49,643  7,77,92,252 
Cash and bank balances 13  15,04,95,206  24,07,01,817 
Short-term loans and advances 10  1,04,51,073  2,16,84,082 
other current assets 14  4,09,367  13,84,298 

 40,89,65,860  34,15,62,449 
 89,08,33,795  84,84,19,418 

Significant accounting policies 2

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014

as at March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Ba l a NC E sH E Et
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Note Year ended 
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

REVENUE FROM OPERatIONs
Sale of services 15  12,57,11,614  16,18,55,040 
other operating revenues 16  65,99,230  76,61,815 

 13,23,10,844  16,95,16,855 
other income 17  2,14,36,787  3,21,47,720 
total revenue  15,37,47,631  20,16,64,575 
EXPENsEs
operating expenses 18  4,46,24,422  5,30,31,157 
employee benefits 19  1,91,58,297  3,87,42,732 
finance costs 20  11,79,367  27,04,859 
depreciation and amortisation 7&8  2,80,60,344  4,14,45,562 
other expenses 21  6,98,75,540  9,61,19,924 
total expenses  16,28,97,970  23,20,44,234 

loss before tax  (91,50,339)  (3,03,79,659)
Provision for tax  -    -   
loss after tax  (91,50,339)  (3,03,79,659)
Earnings per share: 27
basic and diluted  (0.39)  (1.30)
nominal value of equity shares  10 10
Significant accounting policies 2

The notes referred to above form an integral part of the financial statements

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

stat E M E N t OF PROF I t a N D l O s s
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Year ended  
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

CasH FlOW FROM OPERatING aCtIVItIEs
net loss before tax  (91,50,339)  (3,03,79,659)
Adjustments for:
depreciation and amortization  2,80,60,344  4,14,45,562 
Provision for doubtful loans and advances / receivables  16,05,895  22,19,319 
bad debts written off  10,68,528  -   
(Profit) / Loss on sale of assets (net)  (8,15,914)  9,18,612 
Interest income  (1,03,93,147)  (2,05,96,003)
employee stock compensation expenses  3,706  15,64,703 
unrealized foreign exchange (gain) (net)  (16,05,895)  (7,15,700)
dividend income  (8,31,792)  -   
Provisions / liabilities no longer required written back  (40,20,265)  (48,22,348)
Profit on sale / redemption of Current Investments  (23,76,867)  -   
Interest expense  11,79,367  27,04,859 
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes  27,23,621  (76,60,655)
Adjustments for:
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (5,17,25,920) (1,88,16,552)
(Increase) /decrease in loans and advances 99,74,262 8,10,48,272
(decrease)/increase in liabilities and provisions 5,55,81,273 16,66,261
Cash (used in) / from operations 1,65,53,236 5,62,37,326
Income tax paid (10,39,883) 62,37,879
Net cash used in operating activities (a) 1,55,13,353 6,24,75,205

CasH FlOW FROM INVEstING aCtIVItIEs

Purchase of fixed assets  (25,33,755)  (1,06,23,720)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  25,76,990  4,53,062 

Investment in bank deposits (having original maturity of more than three months)  13,17,29,713  88,95,259 

Purchase of current investments  (30,92,82,260)  -   

Proceeds from Sale / redemption of current Investments  19,24,98,557  -   

dividend income received from  investments  8,31,792  -   

Interest received  1,13,68,078  2,50,71,223 

Net cash from / (used in) investing activities ( B )  2,71,89,115  2,37,95,824 

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

C asH F l OW stat E M E N t
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

C asH F l OW stat E M E N t (Contd.)

Year ended  
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

CasH FlOW FROM FINaNCING aCtIVItIEs

(repayment of)/ Proceeds from short-term borrowings - (5,60,00,000)

(Increase) / decrease in loan from subsidiary companies - (6,38,78,555)

finance cost paid (11,79,367) (27,04,859)

Net cash used in financing activities  (C) (11,79,367) (12,25,83,414)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (a+B+C) 4,15,23,101 (3,63,12,385)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,12,54,991 7,75,67,376

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8,27,78,092 4,12,54,991

The accompanying notes are the integral part of the financial statements.

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements

1 Company overview
 Inditrade Capital Limited ( formerly known as JrG Securities Limited) (“the Company”) was incorporated on 17 october 1994. 

The Company is primarily engaged in the business as brokers for securities trading in various stock exchanges and to act as a 
depository participant.

2 Significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
 These financial statements have been prepared and presented under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis of 

accounting in accordance with the Generally accepted accounting Principles (GaaP) in India and comply with the accounting 
Standards (‘aS’) prescribed in the Companies (accounting Standards) rules, 2006, other pronouncements of the Institute 
of Chartered accountants of India (ICaI), the relevant provisions of the Companies act, 1956 and guidelines issued by the 
Securities and exchange board of India (SebI) to the extent applicable. These financial statements are prepared and presented 
in Indian rupees and rounded-off to the nearest rupee.

 all assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle and other 
criteria set out in the Schedule VI to the Companies act, 1956. based on the nature of its business , the Company has ascertained 
its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current – non current classification of assets and liabilities.

2.2 use of estimates
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GaaP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities on the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. actual figures may differ from these estimates. 
any revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively in current and future periods.

2.3 Fixed assets and depreciation / amortisation
 tangible fixed assets
 Tangible fixed assets are carried at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. 

Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

 depreciation on tangible fixed assets is provided on Straight Line method. The rates of depreciation prescribed in Schedule XIV 
to the Companies act, 1956 are considered as the minimum rates. If the management’s estimate of the useful life of a tangible 
asset at the time of acquisition of the asset or of the remaining useful life on a subsequent review is shorter than that envisaged in 
the aforesaid schedule, depreciation is provided at a higher rate based on the management’s estimate of the useful life/remaining 
useful life. The rates of depreciation followed by the Company are as follows:

Category Rates per annum (%)
furniture and fittings 20.00%
office equipments 20.00%
Computers 16.21%
electrical fittings 20.00%
V- Sat equipments 16.21%
Motor vehicle 20.00%

 depreciation in respect of leasehold improvements is provided on the straight-line method over a period of 5 years since the 
management is reasonably certain of renewal of lease terms.

 Pro rata depreciation is provided on all fixed assets purchased/ sold during the year. Individual assets costing H5,000/- or less are 
depreciated as per the provisions of the Companies act, 1956.

 advances paid towards acquisition of fixed assets and the cost of assets not ready to be put to use before the year end are 
disclosed under long term loans and advances, and capital work in progress respectively.
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

 Intangible fixed assets
 Intangible assets representing computer software are recorded at the consideration paid for acquisition. Software is amortized 

over their estimated useful lives of five years on a straight-line basis, commencing from the date the asset is available to the 
Company for its use.

 non compete fee paid and capitalized is amortized on a progressively decreasing basis over the three year non compete period.

2.4 Impairment
 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount (higher of net realizable value and value in use) of the asset. If 
such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less than 
the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment loss 
and is recognized in the statement of profit and loss. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that a previously assessed 
impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount 
subject to a maximum of depreciable historical cost.

2.5 revenue
 brokerage income in relation to securities broking activity is recognised on the trade date of transaction (net of service tax), 

upon confirmation of trade by the stock exchange.

 depository income (net of service tax) pertains to income (including account opening fees) from depository services rendered 
by the Company and is recognised on accrual basis.

2.6 Interest income
 Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

 dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established by the balance sheet date.

2.7 Investments
 Investments that are readily realisable and are intended by the management to be held for not more than one year from the date 

on which such investments are made, are classified as current investments. all other investments are classified as long term 
investments.

 Current investments are carried at the lower of cost and fair value. In case of investments in mutual funds, the net asset value of 
units declared by the mutual funds is considered as the fair value.

 Long-term investments are carried at cost and provisions are recorded to recognize any decline, other than temporary, in the 
carrying value of each investment.

2.8 Foreign currency transactions
 foreign currency transactions are accounted at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the relevant transactions. exchange 

differences arising on foreign currency transactions settled during the year are recognized in the profit and loss account of the 
year. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet date are translated at the closing 
exchange rates on that date. The resultant exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

2.9 Operating lease
 operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease 

term.

2.10 employee benefits
 Short term employee benefit plans

 all short term employee benefit plans such as salaries, wages, bonus, special awards and, medical benefits which fall due within 
12 months from the period in which the employee renders the related services which entitles him to avail such benefits are recognized 
on an undiscounted basis and charged to the statement of profit and loss.
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 Defined contribution plan
 Contributions to the provident funds are made monthly at a predetermined rate to the regional provident fund commissioner and 

debited to the statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis.

 Defined benefit plan
 Provision is made for gratuity based on actuarial valuation, carried out by an independent actuary as at the balance sheet date, using the 

projected unit credit method. all actuarial gains and losses arising during the year are recognized in the statement of profit and loss of 
the year.

2.11 Taxation
 Income-tax expense comprise current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period determined in accordance with the income-tax law), and 

deferred tax charge or credit (reflecting the tax effects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable income for the 
period).

 The deferred tax charge or credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent there is 
a reasonable certainty that the assets can be realized in future; however, where there is unabsorbed depreciation or carried forward loss 
under taxation laws, deferred tax assets are recognized only if there is a virtual certainty of realization of such assets. deferred tax assets 
are reviewed as at the balance sheet date and written down or written up to reflect the amount that is reasonably/virtually certain (as the 
case may be) to be realized. Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset to the extent to which the Company has a legally 
enforceable right to set off and they relate to taxes on income levied by the same governing taxation laws.

2.12 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
 The Company creates a provision when there is present obligation as a result of past event that probably requires an outflow of resources 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. a disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible 
obligation or a present obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where there is a possible obligation or 
a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. Contingent 
assets are neither recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements.

2.13 employee stock options plan
 In accordance with the Securities and exchange board of India guidelines, the fair value of the options as at the date of grant of options 

under the employee stock option scheme, is treated as employee compensation and amortised over the vesting period.

2.14 Cash flow
 Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non–cash 

nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from regular revenue generating, financing 
and investing activities of the Company are segregated.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term investments 

with an original maturity of three months or less.

2.16 earnings per share
 basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. diluted earnings per share amounts are computed after 
adjusting the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. The number of shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 
comprises the weighted average number of shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share, and also the weighted 
average number of equity shares, which could have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive potential shares. The diluted 
potential equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds receivable, had the shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. the average 
market value of the outstanding shares). dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the period, 
unless issued at a later date. 

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)
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3 SHAre CAPITAL
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
authorised:
4 00 00 000 ( Previous year: 4 00 00 000 ) equity shares of H10 each  40,00,00,000  40,00,00,000 
Issued subscribed and paid-up
2 33 52 626 ( Previous year: 2 33 52 626 ) equity shares of H10 each fully paid up  23,35,26,260  23,35,26,260 
Less : Shares held by the employees Stock option payment trust (“JrG eSoP Trust”)
(refer note no 33)     

 (6,71,250)  (6,71,250)

 23,28,55,010  23,28,55,010 

a) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of reporting  year
Particulars as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares Value No. of shares Value

at the beginning and at the end of the year 2,33,52,626 23,35,26,260 2,33,52,626 23,35,26,260

b) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding in JRG EsOP trust
Particulars as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares Value No. of shares Value

 at the beginning and at the end of the year  67,125  6,71,250  67,125  6,71,250 

c) terms / rights attached to equity shares       
 The Company has only one class of shares of equity share having a par value of H10 per share. each holder of the equity 

share is entitled to one vote per share. The Company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed 
(if any) by the board of directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing annual General Meeting. 

 In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the remaining 
assets of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. however, no such preferential amounts exist currently. 
The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders. 

d) Details of the shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company
Name of the shareholder as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares % holding No. of shares % holding

Duckworth limited , Mauritius. (Holding Company)  1,06,46,995 45.59%  1,06,46,995 45.59%

e) shares allotted as fully paid up pursuant to contract(s) without payment being received in cash (during 5 years 
immediately preceding March 31,2014)

 The company has not made any issue of bonus Shares or Shares in consideration other than cash in pursuance of any 
contract during the period of 5 years preceding the reporting period. 

f) Details of the shares reserved for issue under options       
 The Company issued options under the employees stock option plan 2005 (“2005 Plan”) in the financial year 2005-2006. 

The 2005 Plan covers all non- promoter directors and employees of the Company (collectively referred to as “eligible 
employees”) and its subsidiaries. under the plan, the Company granted 179,100 options on 3 September 2005. The 
Compensation Committee granted the options on the basis of performance, criticality and potential of the employees as 
identified by management.

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)
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 The Company had computed the fair value of the options for the purpose of accounting of employee compensation cost/ 
expense over the vesting period of the options. The estimated fair value of each stock option granted on 3 September 
2005 was H0.28. This has been calculated based on independent valuation report, which has been estimated under the 
black Scholes option pricing model. The exercise price for these options granted is H10. The inputs were the share price at 
grant date of H10.67, exercise price of H10, expected volatility of nIL ( the Company was not listed at the time of grant of 
options), expected dividends 7.5%, contractual life of 4.05 years, and a risk-free interest rate of 6.59%. The vesting period 
for these options granted under the 2005 plan varies from 12 months to 36 months. out of the 179,100 options granted on 
3 September 2005, 50,220 options were forfeited and 111,005 options were exercised up to 31 March 2012. 

 summary of the status of options granted under EsOP 2005 Plan which was subsequently merged under EsOP 2008 
Plan to employees as at 31 March 2014 is presented below:
Number of Options as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
options granted and outstanding at the beginning and end of the year  17,875 17,875

 during the financial year 2007-2008, the 2005 plan was merged with JrG employee Stock option plan 2008 (“2008 Plan”). 
The 2008 Plan was approved on 15 July 2008 at the annual general meeting of shareholders and was effective from the same 
date. The objective of this 2008 Plan is to encourage ownership of the Company’s equity by its employees on an ongoing 
basis. The eSoP 2008 is intended to reward the employees for their contribution to the successful operation of Inditrade 
Capital Limited (formerly known as JrG Securities Limited) and to provide an incentive to continue contributing to the 
success of the company. The new plan provides that the lock-in period and other terms and conditions of this scheme shall 
apply ipso facto as they applied to the options issued under 2005 Plan.

 Basic terms of the options granted under 2008 Plan are presented below:
Grant date 29-Jul-08 25-May-09 25-Jul-09 27-Oct-09 25-May-10 10-Nov-10 01-apr-11
option granted  1,00,000  2,62,500  10,000  38,000  2,82,250  1,84,802  1,07,105 
exercise price (H/option)  38.00  34.00  38.00  46.00  36.00  36.00  36.00 
number of personnel in 
the option programme

 8  63  2  2  98  1  1 

 The fair value of stock options has been determined using the black Scholes option pricing model.

 Presumptions used in fair value computations:
Grant date 29-Jul-08 25-May-09 25-Jul-09 27-Oct-09 25-May-10 10-Nov-10 01-apr-11
Vesting period 12 Months to 48 Months
expected option life 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years
expected volatility 33%  33% 45% 45% 45% 45% 45%
expected dividend 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
risk free rate 6.15% 6.15% 7% 7% 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Share price at grant date  37.73  39.90  41.00  49.00  35.90  34.70  15.80 
fair value (H/ option)  18.00  22.00  25.00  29.00  21.00  17.80  10.15 

 summary of the status of options granted under 2008 Plan to employees as at 31 March 2014 is presented below :
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
options granted and outstanding at the beginning of the year  4,88,657  5,35,157 
Less: exercised / forfeited during the year  2,91,907  46,500 
options granted and outstanding at the end of the year  1,96,750  4,88,657 
exercisable options at the end of the year  1,96,750  1,00,177 

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

4 reServeS AnD SurPLuS
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
I. Capital reserve
 at the commencement and end of the year  7,19,54,736  7,19,54,736 
II. securities premium account
 at the commencement and end of the year  49,73,22,134  49,73,22,134 
III. Employee stock option outstanding
 balance at the beginning of the year  77,80,841  96,12,716 
 Less: options forfeited during the year  -    (10,15,500)
 Less: Transfer to general reserve on account of forfeiture  (43,76,591)  (8,16,375)
 Balance at the end of the year a  34,04,250  77,80,841 
 Deferred stock compensation cost
 balance at the beginning of the year  3,706  25,83,909 
 Less: amortization during the year  (3,706)  (15,64,703)
 Less: options forfeited during the year  -    (10,15,500)
 Balance at the end of the year B  -    3,706 
 Employee stock option outstanding (net) a-B  34,04,250  77,77,135 
IV. General reserve
 balance at the beginning of the year  51,78,564  43,62,189 
 add: Transfer from employee stock option reserve  43,76,591  8,16,375 
 Balance at the end of the year  95,55,155  51,78,564 
V. surplus / (deficit) in the statement of profit and loss
 balance at the beginning of the year  (11,56,84,304)  (8,53,04,645)
 net loss after tax transferred from statement of profit and loss  (91,50,339)  (3,03,79,659)
 Balance at the end of the year  (12,48,34,643)  (11,56,84,304)
 total reserves and surplus  45,74,01,632  46,65,48,264 

5 TrADe PAYABLeS *
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Payable to clients  14,66,83,406  9,50,35,178 
business incentive payable  13,19,702  26,52,668 

 14,80,03,108  9,76,87,846 

* for Micro, small and medium enterprises, refer note 31

6 OTHer LIABILITIeS
Particulars Non-current Current

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

Dues to Companies within the same group
JrG fincorp Limited - -  2,19,80,402  48,35,536 
Inditrade business Consultants Limited - -  27,60,773  61,31,516 

 2,47,41,175  1,09,67,052 
Other payables

unclaimed dividend  -    -    2,55,825  5,40,897 
Security deposits  1,34,18,612  1,33,00,942  -    2,75,000 
Provision for expenses  -    -    96,41,561  1,21,34,785 
Provision for employee benefits  -    -    15,98,707  33,79,267 
unearned revenue  -    -    9,49,181  10,74,907 
Creditors for capital goods  -    -    1,50,000  24,95,000 
Payable to exchanges  -    -    -    55,29,374 
others  -    -    18,18,984  16,31,074 

 1,34,18,612  1,33,00,942  1,44,14,258  2,70,60,304 
 1,34,18,612  1,33,00,942  3,91,55,433  3,80,27,356

There are no amounts due for payment to the Investor education and Protection fund under Section 205C of the Companies act, 1956 as at the year end.  
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7 TAnGIBLe FIXeD ASSeTS
Particulars Furniture 

and Fittings
Office 

Equipments
Computers Electrical 

Fittings
Motor 

Vehicles
V-sat 

Equipments
total

Balance as at 1 april 2012 5,52,61,856 3,62,99,950 5,80,28,614 87,48,485 8,83,974 2,01,40,102 17,93,62,981
additions 18,10,876 4,96,004 1,59,93,264 22,71,267 - - 2,05,71,411
deletions / write off 12,19,311 9,86,086 8,03,924 33,89,424 - 2,06,528 66,05,273
Balance as at 1 april 2013 5,58,53,421 3,58,09,868 7,32,17,954 76,30,328 8,83,974 1,99,33,574 19,33,29,119
additions 8,11,850 2,96,900 - 5,82,588 - 16,91,338
deletions / write off 1,57,06,247 48,90,900 57,07,069 10,21,706 7,81,295 5,53,329 2,86,60,546
Balance as at 31 March 2014 4,09,59,024 3,12,15,868 6,75,10,885 71,91,210 1,02,679 1,93,80,245 16,63,59,911
accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 april 2012 3,98,15,879 2,11,17,073 4,06,58,219 52,07,830 5,88,401 1,08,84,631 11,82,72,033
depreciation for the year 1,01,32,464 65,92,457 1,13,46,470 15,38,229 1,45,945 29,18,180 3,26,73,745
accumulated depreciation on 
disposals

10,85,454 9,45,943 6,48,790 25,19,977 - 1,36,124 53,36,288

Balance as at 1 april 2013 4,88,62,889 2,67,63,587 5,13,55,899 42,26,082 7,34,346 1,36,66,687 14,56,09,490
depreciation for the year 44,34,897 62,80,371 75,67,785 13,50,232 45,381 28,73,835 2,25,52,500
accumulated depreciation on 
disposals

1,53,28,717 43,14,045 51,53,282 9,95,768 6,80,731 4,26,930 2,68,99,472

Balance as at 31 March 2014 3,79,69,069 2,87,29,913 5,37,70,402 45,80,546 98,996 1,61,13,592 14,12,62,518
Net Block
as at 31 March 2013 69,90,532 90,46,281 2,18,62,055 34,04,246 1,49,628 62,66,887 4,77,19,629
as at 31 March 2014 29,89,955 24,85,955 1,37,40,483 26,10,664 3,683 32,66,653 2,50,97,393

8 InTAnGIBLe FIXeD ASSeTS
Particulars Computer 

software
Non  

Compete Fee*
total

Balance as at 1 april 2012 8,44,30,404 5,00,00,000 13,44,30,404
additions - - -
deletions / write off 1,02,689 - 1,02,689
Balance as at 1 april 2013 8,43,27,715 5,00,00,000 13,43,27,715
additions 8,42,417 - 8,42,417
deletions / write off - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2014 8,51,70,132 5,00,00,000 13,51,70,132
accumulated amortization
Balance as at 1 april 2012 6,80,76,367 4,93,06,112 11,73,82,479
amortization for the year 80,77,929 6,93,888 87,71,817
accumulated amortization on disposals 1,02,689 - 1,02,689
Balance as at 1 april 2013 7,60,51,607 5,00,00,000 12,60,51,607
amortization for the year 55,07,844 - 55,07,844
accumulated amortization on disposals - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2014 8,15,59,451 5,00,00,000 13,15,59,451
Net Block
as at 31 March 2013 82,76,108 - 82,76,108
as at 31 March 2014 36,10,681 - 36,10,681

* represents non Compete fee paid under an agreement with certain promoters for a period of 3 years commencing from 29th april 2009

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

9 nOn-CurrenT InveSTMenTS 
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
trade investments (valued at cost unless stated other wise)
I. Investments in equity instruments (unquoted)
 Investment in subsidiaries

 99,994 Previous year : (99,994) shares of H10 each fully paid up in Inditrade 
business Consultants Limited (formerly known as JrG business Investment 
Consultants Ltd)

9,99,940 9,99,940

 16,47,095 Previous year : (16,47,095) shares of H10 each fully paid up in Inditrade 
derivatives and Commodities Limited (formerly known as JrG Wealth 
Management Ltd)

4,13,09,850 4,13,09,850

 2,49,99,994 Previous year : (2,49,99,994) shares of H10 each fully paid up in JrG 
fincorp Limited

24,99,99,940 24,99,99,940

 total 29,23,09,730 29,23,09,730
II. Investments in preference shares (unquoted)
 Investment in subsidiaries

 74,62,427 Previous year : (74,62,427) preference shares of H10 each fully paid up 
in Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  (formerly known as JrG 
Wealth Management Ltd)     

 7,46,24,270  7,46,24,270 

III. Other investments  (unquoted)

 1 (Previous year : 1) share of H1,250 fully paid up in Cochin Stock exchange  9,00,000  9,00,000 

 Less : Provision for diminution other-than-temporary  (8,98,750)  (8,98,750)
 1,250  1,250 

 400 (Previous year : 400) shares of aed 1000 each fully paid up in JrG 
International brokerage dMCC, dubai

 49,82,016  49,82,016 

 Less : Provision for diminution other-than-temporary  (49,82,016)  (49,82,016)
 1,250  1,250 

 36,69,35,250  36,69,35,250 
 aggregate amount of unquoted investments  37,28,16,016  37,28,16,016 
 aggregate amount of provision for diminution in value of investments  (58,80,766)  (58,80,766)

10 LOAnS AnD ADvAnCeS
Particulars Non-current Current

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

I. Capital advances (Unsecured, considered good) - 1,43,009 - -
II. Deposits ( Unsecured )
 Considered good

 deposits with exchanges 5,36,18,498 4,08,71,620 - 35,13,113
 rental deposits 66,24,820 1,43,79,286 15,15,600 15,15,600
 electricity, telephone and other deposits 23,18,295 29,28,710 - -

 Considered doubtful
 rental deposits - - 45,34,214 45,34,214

6,25,61,613 5,81,79,616 60,49,814 95,62,927
 Provision for doubtful deposits - - (45,34,214) (45,34,214)

6,25,61,613 5,81,79,616 15,15,600 50,28,713
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10 LOAnS AnD ADvAnCeS (Contd.)

Particulars Non-current Current
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
III. loans and advances to related parties (Unsecured, 

considered good)
 Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited - - 31,49,944 92,67,307
 Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited - - - 98,927

- - 31,49,944 93,66,234
IV. advances recoverable in cash or kind ( Unsecured )
 Considered good 8,82,000 40,40,463 10,29,600 13,85,447
 Considered doubtful - 93,60,121 93,20,122

8,82,000 40,40,463 1,03,89,721 1,07,05,568
 Provision for doubtful advances - - (93,60,121) (93,20,122)

8,82,000 40,40,463 10,29,600 13,85,447
V. Other loans and advances
 Considered good 

 advance tax (net of provisions)  1,91,13,787  1,80,73,904  -    -   
 Prepaid expenses  -    -    23,61,028  52,83,084 
 Gratuity fund (net)  36,67,211  34,88,990  -    -   
 other advances  -    -    7,85,000  -   
 balance with government authorities  -    -    16,09,901  6,20,604 
Considered doubtful 
 Loan to JrG International brokerage dMCC, dubai  -    -    1,69,17,132  1,53,11,237 

 2,27,80,998  2,15,62,894  2,16,73,061  2,12,14,925 
 Provision for doubtful loan and advances  -    -    (1,69,17,132)  (1,53,11,237)

 2,27,80,998  2,15,62,894  47,55,929  59,03,688 
total loans and advances  8,62,24,611  8,39,25,982  1,04,51,073  2,16,84,082 

11 CurrenT InveSTMenTS 
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
In equITy Share (quoTed)
5900  equity shares of H10 each fully paid up in abbott India Ltd  99,75,303  -   

310000  equity shares of H2 each fully paid up in Manappuram finance Ltd  56,16,606  -   

56785  equity shares of H2 each fully paid up in Lupin Ltd  5,02,68,662  -   
 6,58,60,571  -   

In MuTuaL fundS (unquoTed)
69 units in reliance mutual fund- direct Plan- Growth Plan  2,00,000  -   
18138 units in reliance mutual fund- Liquid fund Treasury Plan- Growth Plan *  5,31,00,000  -   

 5,33,00,000  -   
total  11,91,60,571  -   
Market Value of quoted Investments  7,00,09,898  -   
naV of Mutual funds ( unquoted)  5,69,10,791  -   

 * Pledged with national Stock exchange towards Margin Money

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

12 TrADe reCeIvABLeS 
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
I. Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for 

payment
 Secured , considered good  -    13,60,665 
 unsecured, considered doubtful  37,69,377  51,29,793 

 37,69,377  64,90,458 
 Provision for doubtful trade receivables  (37,69,377)  (51,29,793)

 -    13,60,665 
II. Outstanding for a period less than six months from the date they are due for 

payment
 Secured , considered good  3,50,61,468  7,50,67,364 
 unsecured, considered good  9,33,88,175  13,64,223 
 unsecured, considered doubtful  -    16,81,768 

 12,84,49,643  7,81,13,355 
 Provision for doubtful trade receivables  -    (16,81,768)

 12,84,49,643  7,64,31,587 
 total trade receivables (net)  12,84,49,643  7,77,92,252 

13 CASH AnD BAnk BALAnCeS  
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  77,077  1,66,677 
balances with banks

on current accounts**  7,04,45,191  4,05,47,417 
on unpaid dividend accounts  2,55,825  5,40,897 
on deposits with upto 3 months maturity *  1,20,00,000  -   

 8,27,78,093  4,12,54,991 
other balances
deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months but less than 12 months *  5,57,17,113  19,94,46,316 
deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months  1,20,00,000  -   
Stamps in hand  -    510 

 6,77,17,113  19,94,46,826 
total cash and bank balances  15,04,95,206  24,07,01,817 
* Includes deposits pledged with banks as security for loans and guarantees issued 

by banks in favour of various stock / commodity exchanges.  6,53,27,848  10,89,52,657 

** balance in current account includes the following amounts in the name of JrG 
eSoP Trust.  2,81,378  2,81,378 

14 OTHer ASSeTS
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Interest accrued on fixed deposits  4,09,367  13,84,298 
total other assets  4,09,367  13,84,298 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

15 SALe OF ServICeS 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Income from broking and related services  10,75,91,239  14,06,79,092 
Income from depository participant services  1,81,20,375  2,11,75,948 

 12,57,11,614  16,18,55,040 

16 OTHer OPerATInG InCOMe 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Income from financial distribution support services  8,45,696  7,55,026 
Interest / Penal charges for delayed payment  57,53,534  69,06,789 

 65,99,230  76,61,815 

17 OTHer InCOMe
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Interest income
 Interest on fixed deposits  1,03,93,147  1,81,15,148 
 other interest income  -    24,80,855 
 Interest on Income tax refund  -    6,97,199 
dividend income on current investments  8,31,792  -   
Profit on sale of fixed asset  8,15,914  -   
net gain on sale of current investment  23,76,867  35,07,972 
exchange fluctuation gain (net)  16,05,895  7,15,700 
Provision/ liabilities  no longer required written back  40,20,265  48,22,348 
other non-operating income  13,92,907  18,08,498 

 2,14,36,787  3,21,47,720 

18 OPerATInG eXPenSeS
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
business incentive          3,28,25,073  4,20,89,662 
Turnover charges  47,55,738  49,84,041 
other trading expenses  70,43,611  59,57,454 

 4,46,24,422  5,30,31,157 

19 eMPLOYee BeneFIT eXPenSeS
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Salaries, wages & bonus  1,38,88,060  2,88,97,568 
Contribution to provident and other funds  8,37,060  17,66,737 
expenses on employee stock option scheme  3,706  15,64,703 
Staff welfare expenses  39,48,639  51,10,223 
Staff incentive expenses  4,80,832  14,03,501 

 1,91,58,297  3,87,42,732 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

20 FInAnCe COST 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Interest expense  11,79,367  27,04,859 

 11,79,367  27,04,859 

21 OTHer eXPenSeS 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
advertisement and business promotion 4,65,899 9,76,994
Communication 46,29,718 52,00,357
registration and renewals 4,91,266 1,42,739
rent 98,29,193 1,21,20,067
rates and taxes 79,096 4,12,541
repair and maintenance - others 40,35,821 69,07,128
Travelling expenses 20,49,703 36,17,622
Insurance charges 75,530 77,587
directors sitting fees 1,60,000 1,89,000
Loss on sale of fixed assets - 9,18,612
office and branch expenses 39,02,709 36,13,466
Power and fuel 53,04,470 52,34,590
Printing and stationery 7,10,604 1,39,269
Professional and consultancy charge ( refer note no 23 ) 74,25,397 1,24,79,747
Postage & Courier 15,59,623 38,35,693
Shared service expenses (net) 2,57,82,893 3,54,83,387
Provision for doubtful trade receivables - 7,20,619
Provision for doubtful loans and advances 16,05,895 14,98,700
amount no longer recoverable written off (net of provision) 10,68,369 -
bad debts written off 159 -
bank and other charges 4,02,031 14,27,714
Miscellaneous expenses 2,97,164 11,24,092

6,98,75,540 9,61,19,924

22 COnTInGenT LIABILITIeS AnD COMMITMenTS   
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Contingent liabilities
a) Guarantees
 Guarantee issued by the bank  -    7,50,00,000 
 Guarantees on behalf of subsidiary companies  7,00,00,000  12,00,00,000 
b) Other money for which the company is contingently liable
 Income tax matters, pending decisions on various appeals made by the Company 

and by  the department
 1,67,84,040  1,67,73,200 

 Provident fund dues disputed in appeal against which H7,84,476 is paid under 
dispute and included under advances

 31,37,903  -   

 other Claims against the company not acknowledged as debt  4,13,46,000  1,23,96,000 
c) The Company is involved in claim and proceedings including show cause notice 

received from Securities and exchange board of India (SebI) which arise in the 
ordinary course of the business. however there are no such matters pending that 
the Company expects to be material in relation to its business.

Commitments
 other commitments -  1,00,000 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

23 PAYMenT TO AuDITOr (included in professional and consultancy charges, excluding service tax) 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
as auditor :
 Statutory audit  5,00,000  6,50,000 
 Consolidation and Limited review  3,00,000  4,75,000 
 Tax audit  -    50,000 
 other services  25,000  1,25,000 
 for reimbursement of expenses  1,87,184  2,28,994 

24 DeFerreD TAXeS
 The Company has not recognized the net deferred tax asset in respect of unabsorbed depreciation or carried forward loss under 

taxation laws as the management believes that there exists no virtual certainty in relation to its realization as on the balance sheet 
date.

25 reLATeD PArTY DISCLOSureS 
 names of related parties and nature of relationship:

Company having significant influence duckworth Limited, Mauritius
Subsidiary and step down subsidiary 
Companies

Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited (formerly known as JrG 
Wealth Management Limited)
Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited (formerly known as JrG Insurance 
broking Private Limited)
JrG fincorp Limited
Inditrade business Consultants Limited (formerly known as JrG business 
Investment Consultants Limited)

Key managerial personnel anand Tandon (Managing director from 6th august 2013 to 13th february 
2014) Gopichand S ( Managing director from 25th January 2012 to 6th august 
2013
Guruswami raj G (Manager cum Company Secretary)

 Transactions and balance with related parties
31 March 2014 31 March 2013

Particulars transactions 
during the 

year 

amount 
(payable) / 
receivable

transactions 
during the 

year 

amount 
(payable) / 
receivable

Equity contribution
Inditrade business Consultants Limited - 10,00,000 - 10,00,000
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited (equity shares) - 1,64,70,950 - 1,64,70,950
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited (Preference Shares) - 7,46,24,270 - 7,46,24,270
JrG fincorp Limited - 24,99,99,940 - 24,99,99,940
advance given/ (taken) (net)
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited (1,26,27,759) 31,49,945 - 92,67,309
JrG fincorp Limited 1,25,69,814 (54,72,105) - (48,35,536)
Inditrade business Consultants Limited 2,45,01,655 (27,60,773) - -
loan given / (taken) to subsidiaries
Inditrade business Consultants Limited - - (4,62,74,200) (61,31,516)
JrG fincorp Limited  (4,71,14,990)  (1,65,08,297)  8,10,04,640 -
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  1,73,14,990  (1,59,97,225)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

Particulars transactions 
during the 

year 

amount 
(payable) / 
receivable

transactions 
during the 

year 

amount 
(payable) / 
receivable

loans repaid
JrG fincorp Limited  3,06,06,693 
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  (1,73,14,990)
Balance in trading account
JrG fincorp Limited  48,31,402  36,56,383  (11,75,019)  (11,75,019)
Reimbursement of expenses/ (income) (net)
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  3,03,679  -    22,10,365  -   
Inditrade Insurance broking (P) Limited  (2,651)  -    1,97,375  98,927 
JrG fincorp Limited  6,11,285  -    (14,44,155)  -   
Inditrade business Consultants Limited  (5,86,592)  -    (37,61,451)  -   
Interest (expense) / income (net)
JrG fincorp Limited  (5,43,080)  (25,69,184)
Inditrade business Consultants Limited  -    -    24,80,854  -   
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  (5,693 )  -    (27,730)  -   
shared service expenses (including service tax)
Inditrade business Consultants Limited  (2,05,44,320)  -    (1,98,58,139)  -   
JrG fincorp Limited  (1,32,74,588)  -    (1,79,48,282)  -   
Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited  62,01,025  -    2,30,81,898  -   
Inditrade Insurance broking (P) Limited  (96,276)
Remuneration paid 
Salaries, other allowances and perquisites -
Gopichand S.  1,16,000  -    26,67,279  -   
Guruswami raj G *  75,176  -    -    -   

 * appointed as Manager of Inditrade Capital Limited w.e.f 14th March 2014

26 SeGMenT rePOrTInG
a) Primary segment information (by business segments)
 The Company is engaged in the business of providing broking and broking related services i.e. depository participant 

services to predominantly retail clients. accordingly the primary segments have been identified as broking (including 
broking related services). Thus, it operates in a single primary segment.

b) Secondary segment reporting (by geographical segments)
 The Company caters only to the needs of the domestic market. hence there are no reportable geographical segments.

25 reLATeD PArTY DISCLOSureS (Contd.)
 Transactions and balance with related parties (Contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

27 eArnInGS Per SHAre 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
earnings
Loss for the year a  (91,50,339)  (3,03,79,659)
Shares
number of shares at the beginning of the year  2,32,85,501  2,32,85,501 
add: equity shares issued and exercised by employees under eSoP plan  -    -   
Total number of shares at the end of the year  2,32,85,501  2,32,85,501 
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year B 2,32,85,501 2,32,85,501
Basic and diluted earnings per share   a / B  (0.39)  (1.30)

 The conversion of stock options into equity, if made, would have the effect of reducing the loss per share and would therefore be 
anti-dilutive. hence, such conversion has not been considered for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share.

28 SeCurITY MArGInS FrOM CLIenTS. 
 In order to secure the performance by the clients of their obligations, commitments and liabilities to the Company, securities etc 

are placed as margins by creation of pledge in favour of/transfer to the Company’s depository account.  Such securities etc are 
held by the Company in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of its clients and are not recognised in the financial statements. In case 
such margins are received in cash, the same are disclosed under current liabilities.

29 eMPLOYee BeneFIT

 Details of actuarial valuation of gratuity pursuant to the accounting standard 15:
Change in projected benefit obligation Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of the year  17,37,142  30,65,206 
acquisition adjustment  -    (14,11,197)
Service cost  1,36,402  4,47,382 
Interest cost  1,56,343  2,52,879 
actuarial gain  (67,398)  (4,77,552)
benefits paid  (12,45,602)  (1,39,576)
Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year  7,16,887  17,37,142 
Change in plan assets
fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year  52,26,132  49,23,463 
expected return on plan assets  4,02,969  4,44,111 
actuarial (gain)/ loss  (3,456)  (1,866)
Contributions  4,055  -   
benefits paid  (12,45,602)  (1,39,576)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year  43,84,098  52,26,132 
reconciliation of present value of obligation on the fair value of plan assets
Present value of projected benefit obligation at the end of the year  7,16,887  17,37,142 
funded status of the plans  43,84,098  52,26,132 
Funded status amount of asset recognized in the balance sheet (Refer note no. 10)  (36,67,211)  (34,88,990)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

29 eMPLOYee BeneFIT (Contd.)

The components of net gratuity costs are reflected below:
Service cost  1,36,402  4,47,382 
Interest cost  1,56,343  2,52,879 
expected return on plan assets  (4,02,969)  (4,44,111)
recognized net actuarial (gain)/ loss  (63,942)  (4,75,686)
Net gratuity costs  (1,74,166)  (2,19,536)
Financial assumptions as at the balance sheet date:
discount rate 9.00% 8.25%
Long-term rate of compensation increase 8.75% 7.50%
rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 9.15%
attrition rate:5% at younger ages and reducing to 1% at older ages according to 
graduated scale

The Company assesses these assumptions with the projected long-term plans of growth and prevalent industry standards.

30 STATeMenT OF uTILISATIOn OF InITIAL PuBLIC OFFerInG (‘IPO’) AS On 31 MArCH 2014
 In april 2006, the Company approached the capital market by way of an IPO. The utilisation of the proceeds from IPO in 

the current year is set out below : 
Particulars  Envisaged 

in the 
prospectus 

 Change in 
utilization 

*

Utilized as 
on 1 apr 

2013

 Utilized 
during the 

year 

 total fund Utilised 
(Including change 

in utilization)  

 amount 
remaining to 
be utilized 31 
March 2014

Middle east operations 560.00 (366.66) 193.34 - 193.34 -
Technology upgradation
Computer software 160.00 - 110.00 - 110.00 -
Computer hardware - 50.00 - 50.00 -
regional office 600.00 - 628.81 - 628.81 -
Issue expenses 130.00 - 147.86 - 147.86 -
opening new branches 
in India

- 200.00 124.07 14.67 138.74 61.26

Infrastructure 
development for I-trade

- 40.00 15.23 - 15.23 24.77

other infrastructural 
requirements

- 126.66 123.23 - 123.23 3.43

total 1,450.00 - 1,392.54 14.67 1,407.21 89.46
Means of finance
Issue proceeds 1,360.54
Internal accruals 46.67
total utilized 1,407.21
 * In the annual General meeting of the Company held on 25 July 2009, the shareholders had consented for the change in 
the utilization of the aforesaid monies totalling to H366.66 lakhs, raised by the Company during the IPo of its shares, from 
those specified in the object clause in the prospectus, inter alia to utilise for expansion activities of the Company in India 
for opening new branches, infrastructure development for I-Trade and other infrastructural requirements.

 amount pending utilization as on 31 March 2014 has been maintained in fixed deposits with the banks.

(Amounts in Lacs)

Year ended 
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

31 MICrO, SMALL AnD MeDIuM enTerPrISeS DeveLOPMenT ACT, 2006   
 The management has identified enterprises which have provided goods and services to the Company and which qualify under 

the definition of “Micro and Small enterprises” as defined under Micro, Small and Medium enterprises development act, 2006 
(“the act”). accordingly, based on the information received and available with the Company ,there are no amounts payable to 
such enterprises as at 31 March 2014.

32 FOreIGn CurrenCY FOrWArD COnTrACTS    
 The Company does not use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations.

 The year end foreign currency exposures that have not been hedged by a derivative instrument or otherwise are given below: 

Particulars as at 
31 March, 2014

as at 
31 March, 2013

amount receivable in foreign currency uSd  2,82,484  2,82,484 
amount equivalent in Inr  1,69,17,132  1,53,11,237 

33 JrG eSOP TruST 
 as per the requirements of Securities exchange board of India (employee Stock option Scheme and employee Stock Purchase 

Scheme) Guidelines 1999 (‘SebI guidelines’), since the stock option plan is administered through a trust, the accounts of the 
Company are prepared as if the Company itself is administering the employee stock option plan. Pursuant to such requirement 
of the SebI guidelines the equity shares issued to the JrG eSoP Trust and not exercised by the employees as on 31 March 2014 
have been presented as a deduction from the share capital. The bank balance of the JrG eSoP Trust as on 31 March 2014 net 
of the loan granted and capital contribution to the JrG eSoP Trust by the Company has been presented as bank balance of the 
Company.

34 The Company has established a comprehensive system of maintenance of information and documents as required by the transfer 
pricing legislation under sections 92-92f of the Income-tax act, 1961. Since the law requires existence of such information and 
documentation to be contemporaneous in nature, the Company is in the process of updating this information. The Company 
is required to update and put in place information latest by the due date for filing of its income tax return. Management is 
of the opinion that its transactions are at arm’s length so that the aforesaid update will not have any impact on the financial 
statements. 

35 Prior year figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to the current year’s classification.

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014
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on the Consolidated financial Statements of Inditrade Capital limited, Kochi 

(formerly known as JRG Securities Limited)

I N DE PE N DE N t aU DI tOR s’  R E P ORt

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Inditrade Capital Limited, Kochi (formerly 
known as JrG Securities Limited) (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the Company, its subsidiaries, constitute “the 
Group”) which comprise the Consolidated balance Sheet as at 
March 31, 2014, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
and the Consolidated Cash flow Statement for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements on the basis of separate 
financial statements and other financial information regarding 
components that give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position, consolidated financial performance and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in India. This includes 
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with the Standards on auditing issued by the 
Institute of Chartered accountants of India. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s 
preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control. an audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration 
of the reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries, 
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India:

(a) in the case of the Consolidated balance Sheet, of the state of 
affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2014; 

(b) in the case of the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, 
of the loss for the year ended on that date; and

(c) in the case of the Consolidated Cash flow Statement, of the 
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Other Matters
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 
March 2013 were audited by another auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on those statements on 15 May 2013.

for Haribhakti & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.103523W

s sUNDaRaRaMaN
Place: Chennai:  Partner
dated: May 27, 2014 Membership No.028423

To
The Board of Directors
of Inditrade Capital limited, Kochi  
(formerly known as JRG Securities Limited)
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Note as at  
31 March, 2014

as at 
31 March, 2013

I EQUItY aND lIaBIlItIEs
 (1) shareholders' funds
  Share capital 3  23,28,55,010  23,28,55,010 
  reserves and surplus 4  48,12,74,004  53,79,69,644 

 71,41,29,014  77,08,24,654 
 (2) Minority Interest  30,72,84,352  29,85,24,164
 (3) Non-current liabilities
  (a) deffered tax liabilities 24  13,58,556  13,16,430 
  (b) other long term liabilities 5  1,97,87,216  1,96,44,926 
  (c) Long term provisions 6  11,50,596  32,61,181 

 2,22,96,368  2,42,22,537 
 (4) Current liabilities
  (a) Trade Payables 5  22,79,14,498  18,70,77,585 
  (b) other current liabilities 5  3,88,05,785  6,10,40,385 
  (c) Short term provisions 6  1,28,82,158  55,72,971 

 27,96,02,441  25,36,90,941 
 1,32,33,12,175  1,34,72,62,296 

II assEts
 (1) Non-current assets
  (a) fixed assets
   Tangible assets 7  2,75,54,547  5,57,33,587 
   Intangible assets 8  1,17,63,163  1,97,12,784 

 3,93,17,710  7,54,46,373 
  (b) Goodwill on consolidation  1,77,20,414  1,77,20,414 
  (c) non-current Investments 9  1,250  1,250 
  (d) Long term loans and advances 10  11,06,96,664  10,51,08,518 
  (e) other non-current assets 11  10,69,825  11,09,910 

 16,88,05,863  19,93,86,465 
 (2) Current assets
  (a) Current Investments 12  47,17,52,221  29,58,30,696 
  (b) Inventories 13  6,29,00,224  8,07,13,135 
  (c) Trade receivables 14  13,79,66,212  8,02,85,520 
  (d) Cash and bank balances 15  23,76,62,632  37,18,22,758 
  (e) Short term loans and advances 10  24,30,60,718  30,95,08,088 
  (f) other Current assets 11  11,64,305  97,15,634 

 1,15,45,06,312  1,14,78,75,831 
 1,32,33,12,175  1,34,72,62,296 

Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes are the integral part of the consolidated financial statements

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014

as at March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

CONsOlIDatED BalaNCE sHEEt
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Note Year ended 
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

INCOME
Income from operations 16 24,47,88,377 33,07,69,818
other operating Income 17 1,33,55,003 1,20,17,775

25,81,43,380 34,27,87,593
other income 18 6,14,74,563 6,63,84,076

31,96,17,943 40,91,71,669
EXPENsEs
operating expenses 19 6,56,04,225 8,40,45,373
employee benefit expenses 20 12,86,48,853 17,57,84,683
finance Costs 21 7,84,399 94,912
depreciation/ amortization 7 & 8 3,59,37,544 5,14,04,494
other expenses 22 9,78,68,101 14,57,82,576

32,88,43,122 45,71,12,038
loss before exceptional item and tax (92,25,179) (4,79,40,369)
Less : exceptional items 2,90,71,858  -   
loss before tax (3,82,97,037) (4,79,40,369)
tax expense
 Current tax 96,00,000 68,04,996
 deferred tax 42,126 46,79,958
loss before minority interest (4,79,39,163) (5,94,25,323)
Less: Minority interest in share of profit and losses (net) 87,60,188 61,64,680
loss after minority interest (5,66,99,351) (6,55,90,003)
Earnings per share:
 basic  (2.43)  (2.81)
 diluted  (2.43)  (2.81)
nominal value of equity shares (H)  10.00  10.00 
Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes are the integral part of the consolidated financial statements

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)
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Year ended  
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

CasH FlOW FROM OPERatING aCtIVItY
Profit / (Loss) before tax (3,82,97,037) (4,79,40,369)
Adjustments for
depreciation & amortisation 3,59,37,544 5,14,04,494
Provision for doubtful Loans and advances/ debts 3,31,61,348 50,41,317
bad debts written off 3,53,472 83
assets written off - 9,63,782
(Profit) / Loss on sale of assets (7,45,032) 11,32,533
Interest income (1,90,38,381) (2,92,15,943)
dividend income (17,64,016) (1,89,015)
employee Stock compensation expenses 3,706 15,64,703
unrealised foreign exchange (gain) (net) - (7,15,700)
MTM (Gain)/ loss in Mutual fund investment 18,86,336 (55,43,227)
Provision / Liabilities no longer required written back (1,11,88,654) (60,40,176)
(Profit) / Loss on sale of current investment (2,69,67,604) (2,09,52,892)
finance Cost 7,84,399 94,912
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes (2,58,73,919) (5,03,95,498)
(Increase) / decrease in Inventories 1,78,12,911 10,58,17,636
(Increase) / decrease in trade receivables (6,02,89,043) (1,26,88,587)
(Increase) / decrease in Loans and advances 3,35,60,649 15,71,92,107
Increase / (decrease) in trade payables, other paybles & Provisions 2,61,75,118 (6,34,14,528)
Cash Generated from operations (86,14,284) 13,65,11,130
Less : Income tax paid (net of refunds) (42,51,148) (28,06,894)
NEt CasH FROM / (UsED IN) OPERatING aCtIVItIEs a (1,28,65,432) 13,37,04,236
CasH FlOWs FROM INVEstING aCtIVItY
Payments for fixed assets (26,66,006) (1,49,83,827)
Sale Proceeds from fixed assets 36,02,156 5,64,814
Payments for Purchase of current Investment (1,39,10,80,270) (1,61,33,55,526)
Sale Proceeds from current Investments 1,24,06,27,774 1,41,65,88,257
Purchase of Investment Property (3,87,761) (59,34,844)
Investment in bank deposits (having original maturity of more than three months) 17,30,65,663 96,20,411
dividend income received from investments 17,64,016 1,89,015
Interest received 2,75,83,121 3,61,71,033
NEt CasH FlOW FROM/ (UsED IN) INVEstING aCtIVItIEs B 5,25,08,693 (17,11,40,667)

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

CONsOlIDatED CasH FlOW statEMENt (Contd.)

Year ended  
31 March, 2014

Year ended 
31 March, 2013

CasH FlOWs FROM FINaNCING aCtIVItY

(repayment)/ Proceeds from borrowings  -   (5,60,00,000)

finance Cost (7,84,399) (94,912)

NEt CasH FlOW FROM / (UsED IN) FINaNCING aCtIVItIEs C (7,84,399) (5,60,94,912)

NEt INCREasE IN CasH aND CasH EQUIValENts (a+B+C) 3,88,58,862 (9,35,31,343)

CasH aND CasH EQUIValENts at BEGINNING OF PERIOD 6,53,53,235 15,88,84,578

CasH aND CasH EQUIValENts at END OF PERIOD 10,42,12,097 6,53,53,235

The accompanying notes are the integral part of the consolidated financial statements

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements

1 Company overview
 Inditrade Capital Limited ( formerly known as JrG Securities Limited) (“Inditrade” or “the Company”) along with its subsidiaries 

(hereinafter the above said companies are collectively referred to as ‘the group”) are primarily engaged in the business of retail 
broking (securities and commodity broking), direct insurance agents, financial services, marketing support services and dealing 
in stocks and commodities. The Company’s equity shares are listed in bombay Stock exchange.

 Inditrade’s subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries are listed below:
Name of the subsidiaries Country of 

Incorporation
Percentage 
of Holding

Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited ("IdCL") (formerly known as 
JrG Wealth Management Limited)

India 91.51%

Inditrade Insurance broking (P) Ltd (formerly known as JrG Insurance 
broking Private Limited)

India
Wholly owned 

subsidiary of IdCL
JrG fincorp Limited India 57.00%
Inditrade business Consultants Limited (formerly known as JrG business 
Investment Consultants Limited)

India 100.00%

2 Significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
 The consolidated financial statements of Inditrade Capital Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as ‘the group’) have 

been prepared and presented in accordance with Indian Generally accepted accounting Principles (GaaP) under the historical 
cost convention on the accrual basis. GaaP comprises accounting standards notified by the Central Government of India under 
Section 211 (3C) of the Companies act, 1956, other pronouncements of the Institute of Chartered accountants of India, the 
provisions of Companies act, 1956 and guidelines issued by the Securities and exchange board of India.

2.2 use of estimates
 The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GaaP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities on the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. actual figures may differ from these 
estimates. any revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively in current and future periods.

2.3 Principles of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Inditrade Capital Limited, the parent company and all 

of its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group” or “Inditrade group”), in which the Company has more than one-half 
of the voting power of an enterprise or where the Company controls the composition of the board of directors.

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the following basis:

 The financial statements of the parent company and the subsidiaries have been combined on a line-by-line basis by adding 
together the book values of like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses after eliminating intra-group balances / 
transactions and resulting unrealized profits in full. unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions have also been 
eliminated except to the extent that recoverable value of related assets is lower than their cost to the group. The amounts shown 
in respect of reserves comprise the amount of the relevant reserves as per the balance sheet of the parent company and its share 
in the post-acquisition increase in the relevant reserves of the subsidiaries

 The Group accounts for investments by the equity method of accounting where it is able to exercise significant influence over 
the operating and financial policies of the investee. Inter company profits and losses have been proportionately eliminated until 
realized by the investor or investee.

 The excess / deficit of cost to the parent company of its investment in the subsidiaries over its portion of equity at the respective 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

dates on which investment in such entities were made are recognized in the financial statements as goodwill / capital reserve. 
The parent company’s portion of equity in such entities is determined on the basis of the book values of assets and liabilities 
as per the financial statements of such entities as on the date of investment and if not available, the financial statements for the 
immediately preceding period adjusted for the effects of significant transactions, up to the date of investment.

 The consolidated financial statements are presented, to the extent possible, in the same format as that adopted by the parent 
company for its separate financial statements.

 The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in 
similar circumstances.

2.4 Fixed assets and depreciation
 tangible fixed assets
 Tangible assets are carried at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Cost 

comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

 depreciation on tangible assets is provided on straight line method. The rates of depreciation prescribed in Schedule XIV to the 
Companies act, 1956 are considered as the minimum rates. If the management’s estimate of the useful life of a tangible asset at 
the time of acquisition of the asset or of the remaining useful life on a subsequent review is shorter than that envisaged in the 
aforesaid schedule, depreciation is provided at a higher rate based on the management’s estimate of the useful life/remaining 
useful life. The rates of depreciation followed by the Company are as follows:

Category Rates per annum (%)
furniture and fittings 20.00%
office equipments 20.00%
Computers 16.21%
electrical fittings 20.00%
Motor vehicle 20.00%
V- Sat equipments 16.21%

 depreciation in respect of leasehold improvements is provided on the straight-line method over a period of 5 years since the 
management is reasonably certain of renewal of lease terms.

 Individual assets costing H5,000 or less are depreciated as per the provisions of Companies act, 1956.

 Intangible fixed assets and amortization
 Intangible assets representing computer software are recorded at the consideration paid for acquisition. Software is amortized 

over their estimated useful lives of five years on a straight-line basis, commencing from the date the asset is available to the 
Company for its use. non-compete fee paid and capitalized is amortized on a progressively decreasing basis over the 3 years 
non-compete period.

 advances paid towards acquisition of fixed assets and the cost of assets not ready to be put to use before the year end are disclosed 
under long term loans and advances, and capital work in progress and intangibles assets under development respectively.

2.5 Impairment of assets
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount (higher of net selling price and value in use) of the asset. If 
such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less 
than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment 
loss and is recognized in the profit and loss account. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that a previously assessed 
impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount 
subject to a maximum of depreciable historical cost.
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2.6 revenue
 revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 

reliably measured.

 brokerage income in relation to securities and commodities broking activity is recognized on the trade date of transaction (net 
of service tax), upon confirmation of trade by the stock exchange/commodity exchange.

 depository income (net of service tax) pertains to income (including account opening fees) from depository services rendered 
by the Company and is recognized on an accrual basis.

 Insurance brokerage income is recognized on an accrual basis at the inception of the insurance policy based on the terms agreed 
with the insurance companies. Insurance broking income on renewed policy is recognized on the date of receipt of renewal 
premium from the insurance companies.

 Interest income from loan business is accounted on an accrual basis except for non performing / doubtful assets, interest in 
respect of which is recognized, considering prudential norms for income recognition issued by the reserve bank of India (rbI) 
for non-banking financial Companies on receipt basis.

 Income from financial distribution, marketing support and other services is recognized as the relevant services are rendered in 
accordance with the terms of arrangement with the customers.

 Profit or loss on sale of equity and commodities are determined based on the first in first out method. Profit or loss on closed 
positions of derivative instruments is recognized on final settlement or squaring up of the contracts.

2.7 Other Income
 dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established by the balance sheet date.

 Interest income is recognized on time proportion basis.

2.8 Provision for doubtful loans and advances
 The policy of provisioning against non performing loans and advances has been decided by the management considering 

prudential norms prescribed by the rbI for non banking financial Companies. as per the policy adopted, the provision against 
sub standard assets are fixed on a conservative basis, taking into account management’s perception of the higher risk associated 
with the business of the Company. non performing loans and advances which when are considered as loss assets and full 
provision will be made against such assets.

2.9 Investments
 “Investments are either classified as current or long-term based on the management’s intention. Current investments other than 

unquoted mutual funds are carried at the lower of cost and fair value. In case of investments in mutual funds, the net asset value 
of units declared by the mutual funds is considered as the fair value. Current investments in unquoted mutual funds are carried 
at net asset Value as per the non banking financial (non deposit accepting or holding) Companies, Prudential norms 
(reserve bank) directions, 2007.

 Long-term investments are carried at cost and provisions recorded to recognize any decline, other than temporary, in the 
carrying value of each investment.”

2.10 Stock- in- trade
 The commodities acquired with the intention of short-term holding and trading positions are considered as stock-in-trade and 

disclosed as current assets and are valued at cost or net realisable value, whichever is lower.

2.11 Derivatives : equity index / stock - futures and commodities stock – futures
 equity index / stock / commodities futures are marked-to-market on a daily basis. debit or credit balance disclosed under loans 

and advances or current liabilities respectively, in the “Mark-to-Market Margin – equity index / stock / commodities stock 
futures account”, represents the net amount paid or received on the basis of movement in the prices of equity index / stock / 
commodities futures till the balance sheet date.

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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 as on the balance sheet date, profit or loss on open positions in equity index / stock / commodities futures are accounted for as 
follows:

 Credit balance in the “Mark-to-Market Margin – equity index / stock / commodities stock futures account”, being 
anticipated profit, is ignored and no credit for the same is taken in the statement of profit and loss.

 debit balance in the “Mark-to-Market Margin – equity index / stock / commodities stock futures account”, being anticipated 
loss, is adjusted in the statement of profit and loss.

 on final settlement or squaring-up of contracts for equity index / stock / commodities futures, the profit or loss is calculated 
as the difference between settlement/ squaring-up price and contract price. accordingly, debit or credit balance pertaining to 
the settled/ squared-up contract in “Mark-to-Market Margin – equity index / stock / commodities stock futures account” is 
recognised in the profit and loss account upon expiry of the contracts. When more than one contract in respect of the relevant 
series of commodity futures contract to which the squared-up contract pertains is outstanding at the time of the squaring-up 
ofthe contract, the contract price of the contract so squared-up is determined using first in first out method for calculating profit 
/ loss on squaring-up.

 “Initial Margin – equity index / stock / commodities stock futures account”, representing initial margin paid, and “Margin 
deposits – equity index / stock / commodities stock futures account”, representing additional margin over and above initial 
margin, for entering into contracts for equity index / stock / commodities futures, which are released on final settlement/
squaring-up of underlying contracts, are disclosed under loans and advances.

2.12 Foreign currency transactions
 foreign currency transactions are accounted at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the relevant transactions. exchange 

differences arising on foreign currency transactions settled during the year are recognized in the profit and loss account of the 
year. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet date are translated at the closing 
exchange rates on that date. The resultant exchange differences are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

2.13 Operating lease
 operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease 

term.

2.14 employee benefits
 short term employee benefit plans
 all short term employee benefit plans such as salaries, wages, bonus, special awards and, medical benefits which fall due 

within 12 months of the period in which the employee renders the related services which entitles him to avail such benefits are 
recognized on an undiscounted basis and charged to the statement of profit and loss.

 Defined contribution plan
 Contributions to the provident funds are made monthly at a predetermined rate to the regional provident fund commissioner 

and debited to the statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis.

 Defined benefit plan
 Provision is made for gratuity based on actuarial valuation, carried out by an independent actuary as at the balance sheet date, 

using the projected unit credit method. all actuarial gains and losses arising during the year are recognized in the statement of 
profit and loss of the year.

2.15 Taxation
 Income-tax expense comprise current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period determined in accordance with the income-tax 

law), and deferred tax charge or credit (reflecting the tax effects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable 
income for the period). The deferred tax charge or credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized 
using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. deferred tax assets 

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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are recognized only to the extent there is a reasonable certainty that the assets can be realized in future; however, where there is 
unabsorbed depreciation or carried forward loss under taxation laws, deferred tax assets are recognized only if there is a virtual 
certainty of realization of such assets. deferred tax assets are reviewed as at the balance sheet date and written down or written 
up to reflect the amount that is reasonably/virtually certain (as the case may be) to be realized.

 Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset to the extent to which the Company has a legally enforceable right to 
set off and they relate to taxes on income levied by the same governing taxation laws.

 Minimum alternate tax (“MaT”) paid in accordance with tax laws, which gives rise to future economic benefits in the form of 
adjustment of future income tax liability, is considered as an asset if there is convincing evidence that the company would pay 
normal income tax in the future years and accordingly, MaT is recognized as an asset in the balance sheet when it is probable 
that the future economic benefit associated with it will flow to the company and the asset can be measured reliably. MaT credit 
entitlement is reviewed at each balance sheet date and written down to the extent there is no convincing evidence to the effect 
that the Company will pay normal income tax during the specified period.

2.16 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
 The Company creates a provision when there is present obligation as a result of past event that probably requires an outflow of 

resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. a disclosure for a contingent liability is made 
when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where 
there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no 
provision or disclosure is made. Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements.

2.17 employee stock options plan
 In accordance with the Securities and exchange board of India guidelines, the fair value of the options as at the date of grant of 

options under the employee stock option scheme, is treated as employee compensation and amortised over the vesting period.

2.18 Cash flow
 Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a 

non–cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from regular revenue 
generating, financing and investing activities of the Company are segregated.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term investments 

with an original maturity of three months or less.

2.20 earnings per share
 basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. diluted earnings per share amounts are computed after 
adjusting the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. The number of shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 
comprises the weighted average number of shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share, and also the weighted 
average number of equity shares, which could have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive potential shares. The diluted 
potential equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds receivable, had the shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. the average 
market value of the outstanding shares). dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the period, 
unless issued at a later date.

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

3 SHAre CAPITAL
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
authorised:
4 00 00 000 ( Previous year: 4 00 00 000 ) equity shares of H10 each  40,00,00,000  40,00,00,000 

Issued subscribed and paid-up
2 33 52 626 ( Previous year: 2 33 52 626 ) equity shares of H10 each fully paid up  23,35,26,260  23,35,26,260 
Less : Shares held by the employees Stock option payment trust (“JrG eSoP Trust”)
(refer note no 33)     

 (6,71,250)  (6,71,250)

 23,28,55,010  23,28,55,010 

a) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding
Particulars as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares Value No. of shares Value

at the beginning and at the end of the year 2,33,52,626 23,35,26,260 2,33,52,626 23,35,26,260

 Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding in EsOP trust account    
Particulars as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares Value No. of shares Value

 at the beginning and at the end of the year  67,125  6,71,250  67,125  6,71,250 

b) terms / rights attached to equity shares       
 The Company has only one class of shares of equity share having a par value of H10 per share. each holder of the equity 

share is entitled to one vote per share. The Company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed ( 
if any ) by the board of directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing annual General Meeting. 

 In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the remaining 
assets of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. however, no such preferential amounts exist currently. 
The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.  

c) Details of the shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company
Name of the shareholder as at 31 March, 2014 as at 31 March, 2013

No. of shares % holding No. of shares % holding

Duckworth limited , Mauritius.  1,06,46,995 45.59%  1,06,46,995 45.59%

d) Details of the shares reserved for issue under options
 The Company issued options under the employees stock option plan 2005 (“2005 Plan”) in the financial year 2005-2006. 

The 2005 Plan covers all non- promoter directors and employees of the Company (collectively referred to as “eligible 
employees”) and its subsidiaries. under the plan, the Company granted 179,100 options on 3 September 2005. The 
Compensation Committee granted the options on the basis of performance, criticality and potential of the employees as 
identified by management.

 The Company had computed the fair value of the options for the purpose of accounting of employee compensation cost/ 
expense over the vesting period of the options. The estimated fair value of each stock option granted on 3 September 
2005 was H0.28. This has been calculated based on independent valuation report, which has been estimated under the 
black Scholes option pricing model. The exercise price for these options granted is H10. The inputs were the share price at 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

grant date of H10.67, exercise price of H10, expected volatility of 0% ( the Company was not listed at the time of grant of 
options), expected dividends 7.5%, contractual life of 4.05 years, and a risk-free interest rate of 6.59%. The vesting period 
for these options granted under the 2005 plan varies from 12 months to 36 months. out of the 179,100 options granted on 
3 September 2005, 50,220 options were forfeited and 111,005 options were exercised up to 31 March 2012.

Number of Options as at 
31 March, 2014

as at 
31 March, 2013

options granted, exerciable and outstanding at the beginning and end of the year  17,875  17,875 

 during the financial year 2007-2008, the 2005 plan was merged with JrG employee Stock option plan 2008 (“2008 Plan”). 
The 2008 Plan was approved on 15 July 2008 at the annual general meeting of shareholders and was effective from the same 
date. The objective of this 2008 Plan is to encourage ownership of the Company’s equity by its employees on an ongoing 
basis. The eSoP 2008 is intended to reward the employees for their contribution to the successful operation of Inditrade 
Capital Limited (formerly known as JrG Securities Limited) and to provide an incentive to continue contributing to the 
success of the company. The new plan provides that the lock-in period and other terms and conditions of this scheme shall 
apply ipso facto as they applied to the options issued under 2005 Plan.

 Basic terms of the options granted under 2008 Plan are presented below:

Grant date 29-Jul-08 25-May-09 25-Jul-09 27-Oct-09 25-May-10 10-Nov-10 01-apr-11
option granted  1,00,000  2,62,500  10,000  38,000  2,82,250  1,84,802  1,07,105 
exercise price (H/option)  38.00  34.00  38.00  46.00  36.00  36.00  36.00 
number of personnel in 
the option programme

 8  63  2  2  98  1  1 

 The fair value of stock options has been determined using the black Scholes option pricing model.

 Presumptions used in fair value computations:
Grant date 29-Jul-08 25-May-09 25-Jul-09 27-Oct-09 25-May-10 10-Nov-10 01-apr-11
Vesting period 12 Months to 48 Months
expected option life 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years  7 years 7 years
expected volatility 33%  33% 45% 45% 45% 45% 45%
expected dividend 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
risk free rate 6.15% 6.15% 7% 7% 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Share price at grant date 37.73 39.9 41 49 35.9  34.70 15.8
fair value (H/ option)  18.00  22.00  25.00  29.00  21.00  17.80 10.15

 summary of the status of options granted under 2008 Plan to employees as at 31 March 2014 is presented below :
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
options granted and outstanding at the beginning of the year  4,88,657  5,35,157 
Less: forfeited during the year  2,91,907  46,500 
options granted and outstanding at the end of the year  1,96,750  4,88,657 
exercisable options at the end of the year  1,96,750  1,00,177 

3 SHAre CAPITAL (Contd.)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

4 reServeS AnD SurPLuS
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
I. Capital reserve
 balance at the beginning and end of the year 12,00,10,470 12,00,10,470
II. securities premium
 balance at the beginning and end of the year 49,73,22,134 49,73,22,134
III. Employee stock option outstanding
 balance at the beginning of the year 77,80,841 96,12,716
 Less: options forfeited during the year  -   (10,15,500)
 Less: Transfer to general reserve on account of forfeiture (43,76,591) (8,16,375)
 balance at the end of the year  a 34,04,250 77,80,841
 Deferred stock compensation cost
 balance at the beginning of the year 3,706 25,83,909
 Less: amortization during the year (3,706) (15,64,703)
 Less: options forfeited during the year  -   (10,15,500)
 balance at the end of the year  B  -   3,706
 Employee stock compensation outstanding (net) a - B 34,04,250 77,77,135
IV. General reserve
 balance at the beginning of the year 69,25,061 61,08,686
 add: Transfer from employee stock option reserve 43,76,591 8,16,375
 Balance at the end of the year 1,13,01,652 69,25,061
V. statutory reserve 
 balance at the beginning of the year 2,14,93,624 1,96,52,877
 add: Transfer from Statement of Profit and Loss * 22,61,820 18,40,747
 Balance at the end of the year 2,37,55,444 2,14,93,624
VI. surplus / (deficit) in the statement of profit and loss
 balance at the beginning of the year (11,55,58,775) (4,81,28,030)
 net loss after tax transferred from statement of profit and loss (5,66,99,351) (6,55,90,003)

(17,22,58,126) (11,37,18,033)
 Transfer to statutory reserve* (22,61,820) (18,40,747)
 Balance at the end of the year (17,45,19,946) (11,55,58,780)
 total Reserves and surplus  48,12,74,004 53,79,69,644

*amount of appropriation to statutory reserve under section 45-IC of the reserve bank of India act, 1934 is computed on the 
profit after tax (including deferred tax impact)
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

5 TrADe PAYABLe AnD OTHer LIABILITIeS
Particulars Non-current Current

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

trade payable
Payable to clients - -  22,60,32,754  18,38,46,931 
business incentive payable - -  18,81,744  32,30,654 

- -  22,79,14,498  18,70,77,585 
Other liabilities

Security deposit  1,97,87,216  1,96,44,926  -    3,75,000 
Professional charges payable  -    -    1,42,500  -   
Provision for expenses  -    -    1,67,13,756  1,99,12,613 
Client accounts  -    -    3,20,337  7,64,785 
Payable to employees  -    -    49,16,370  1,05,48,165 
Income received in advance  -    -    -    10,74,907 
Creditors for capital goods  -    -    22,53,000  60,98,000 
Payable to exchanges  -    -    -    80,96,509 
unclaimed dividend  -    -    2,55,825  5,40,897 
others  -    -    1,42,03,997  1,36,29,509 

 1,97,87,216  1,96,44,926  3,88,05,785  6,10,40,385 
total trade payable and other liabilities  1,97,87,216  1,96,44,926  26,67,20,283  24,81,17,970 

(a) There are no amounts due for payment to the Investor education and Protection fund under Section 205C of the Companies act, 1956 
as at the year end.     

(b) also refer to note  32

6 PrOvISIOnS
Particulars Non-current Current

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

Provisions for Employee Benefits
 Provision for gratuity (net) 11,50,596 32,61,181 26,270 78,528
Other Provisions
 Provision for mark to market on commodity futures - - - 15,95,300
 Provision for tax - - 1,13,15,064 24,17,658
 Provision for non performing assets - - 15,40,824 14,81,485

11,50,596 32,61,181 1,28,82,158 55,72,971
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

7 TAnGIBLe FIXeD ASSeTS
Particulars Furniture 

and Fittings
Office 

Equipments
Computers Electrical 

Fittings
Motor 

Vehicles
V-sat 

Equipments
total

Gross Block
Balance as at 1 april 2012 7,29,48,039 4,14,89,706 7,14,28,813 1,43,52,627 13,84,193 2,52,39,042 22,68,42,420
additions 18,10,876 8,60,017 1,63,10,985 22,71,267 11,39,382 - 2,23,92,527
deletions / write off 26,97,604 11,80,026 8,24,524 43,60,641 - 2,06,528 92,69,323
Balance as at 1 april 2013 7,20,61,311 4,11,69,697 8,69,15,274 1,22,63,253 25,23,575 2,50,32,514 23,99,65,624
additions 8,25,590 4,15,411 - 5,82,588 - - 18,23,589
deletions / write off 1,61,85,682 50,30,468 63,25,440 11,79,794 24,20,896 5,53,329 3,16,95,609
Balance as at 31 March 2014 5,67,01,219 3,65,54,640 8,05,89,834 1,16,66,047 1,02,679 2,44,79,185 21,00,93,604
accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 april 2012 5,21,21,926 2,43,70,418 5,10,41,454 86,15,313 8,32,739 1,54,93,886 15,24,75,736
depreciation for the year 1,31,64,991 74,19,703 1,26,39,978 24,56,785 4,72,333 31,74,485 3,93,28,275
accumulated depreciation on 
disposals

24,03,377 10,99,318 6,68,729 32,64,427 - 1,36,124 75,71,975

Balance as at 1 april 2013 6,28,83,540 3,06,90,803 6,30,12,703 78,07,671 13,05,072 1,85,32,247 18,42,32,036
depreciation for the year 61,42,923 71,75,469 85,74,574 20,75,424 1,84,822 29,92,294 2,71,45,506
accumulated depreciation on 
disposals

1,57,63,813 44,00,950 57,28,273 11,27,621 13,90,898 4,26,930 2,88,38,485

Balance as at 31 March 2014 5,32,62,650 3,34,65,322 6,58,59,004 87,55,474 98,996 2,10,97,611 18,25,39,057
Net Block
as at 31 March 2013 91,77,772 1,04,78,894 2,39,02,571 44,55,582 12,18,503 65,00,267 5,57,33,588
as at 31 March 2014 34,38,569 30,89,318 1,47,30,830 29,10,573 3,683 33,81,574 2,75,54,547

8 InTAnGIBLe FIXeD ASSeTS
Particulars Computer 

software
Non 

 Compete Fee*
total

Gross Block
Balance as at 1 april 2012  10,47,55,096  5,00,00,000  15,47,55,096 
additions  1,95,000  -    1,95,000 
deletions / write off  1,02,689  -    1,02,689 
Balance as at 1 april 2013  10,48,47,407  5,00,00,000  15,48,47,407 
additions  8,42,417  -    8,42,417 
deletions / write off -  -   -
Balance as at 31 March 2014  10,56,89,824  5,00,00,000  15,56,89,824 
accumulated amortization
Balance as at 1 april 2012  7,38,54,981  4,93,06,112  12,31,61,093 
amortization for the year  1,13,82,331  6,93,888  1,20,76,219 
accumulated amortization on disposals 1,02,689  -   1,02,689
Balance as at 1 april 2013  8,51,34,623  5,00,00,000  13,51,34,623 
amortization for the year  87,92,038  -    87,92,038 
accumulated amortization on disposals  -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March 2014  9,39,26,661  5,00,00,000  14,39,26,661 
Net Block
as at 31 March 2013  1,97,12,784  -    1,97,12,784 
as at 31 March 2014  1,17,63,163  -    1,17,63,163 
* represents non-compete fee paid under an agreement with certain promoters for a period of 3 years commencing from 29th april 2009
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9 nOn-CurrenT InveSTMenTS 
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Non trade investments (valued at cost)
I. Other investments  (unquoted)

 1 (Previous year : 1) share of H1,250 fully paid up in Cochin Stock exchange  9,00,000  9,00,000 

 Less : Provision for diminution other than temporary, in the value of investment  8,98,750  8,98,750 
 1,250  1,250 

 400 (Previous year : 400) shares of aed 1000 each fully paid up in JrG 
International brokerage dMCC, dubai

 49,82,016  49,82,016 

 Less : Provision for diminution other-than-temporary  49,82,016  49,82,016 
 -    -   

 total of non-current investments  1,250  1,250 
 aggregate book value of unquoted investments  58,82,016  58,82,016 
 aggregate amount of provision for dimunition in the value of investments  58,80,766  58,80,766 

10 LOAnS AnD ADvAnCeS 
Particulars Non-current Current

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

I. Capital advances (Unsecured,considered good)  1,43,009
II. security deposits (Unsecured)
 Considered good
  rental deposits  76,35,820  1,62,42,486  36,34,400  27,29,600 
  deposits with exchanges  5,42,18,498  4,14,21,620  1,64,75,001  5,51,13,113 
  electricity deposits, telephone & other deposits  29,73,725  35,18,021  -    21,00,000 
 Considered doubtful 
  rental deposits  -    -    52,25,153  53,98,831 

 6,48,28,043  6,11,82,127  2,53,34,554  6,53,41,544 
 Less : Provision for doubtful deposits  -    -    52,25,153  53,98,831 
 total  6,48,28,043  6,11,82,127  2,01,09,401  5,99,42,713 
III. advances recoverable in cash or in kind 
 Secured,considered good  2,12,015  -    70,409  -   
 unsecured, considered good  24,30,602  41,67,364  20,25,519  31,68,262 
 Considered doubtful  -    -    94,30,997  94,21,622 

 26,42,617  41,67,364  1,15,26,925  1,25,89,884 
 Provision for doubtful advance  -    -    94,30,997  94,21,622 

 26,42,617  41,67,364  20,95,928  31,68,262 
IV. loan against collaterals
 Secured, considered good  -    -    20,68,05,602  21,94,84,806 
 Considered doubtful  -    -    9,14,310  8,82,540 

 -    -    20,77,19,912  22,03,67,346 
 Provision for doubtful loans  -    -    9,14,310  8,82,540 

 -    -    20,68,05,602  21,94,84,806 

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)
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10 LOAnS AnD ADvAnCeS (Contd.)

for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

Particulars Non-current Current
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
V. Other loans and advances 
 Unsecured Considered good  -    -    -   
 Gratuity  41,64,327  41,02,894  -    -   
 advance tax (net of provisions)  3,45,61,677  3,03,10,530  -    -   
 Minimum alternate tax credit entitlement  -    7,02,594  10,76,180  10,76,180 
 Prepaid expenses  -    -    28,60,866  56,77,690 
 balance with Government authorities  -    -    83,67,466  96,85,981 
 other advances  -    -    17,45,275  29,72,456 
 Unsecured Considered doubtful 
 Loan to JrG International brokerage dMCC, dubai  -    -    1,69,17,132  1,53,11,237 
 advance paid to creditors  -    -    20,85,347  22,55,323 

 3,87,26,004  3,51,16,018  3,30,52,266  3,69,78,867 
 Provision for doubtful advance  -    -    1,90,02,479  1,75,66,560 

 3,87,26,004  3,51,16,018  1,40,49,787  1,94,12,307 
Loan / advances due by director ** of the subsidiary company * 45,00,000  45,00,000  -    75,00,000 
total loans and advances  11,06,96,664  10,51,08,518  24,30,60,718  30,95,08,088 

 * The remuneration payable to the erstwhile Managing director of the company was in excess of the limits prescribed under 
the Companies act, 1956 by H nIL (Previous year - H75,00,000/-). Pending approval the said excess amount has been shown as 
advances recoverable. The company has received the approval during the current year and accordingly the said amount has been 
charged to Profit & Loss account. 

 ** ceased to be a director w.e.f 13th feb’14

11 OTHer ASSeTS 

Particulars Non-current Current
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
non current bank balances (refer note 15)  10,50,000  10,96,674  -    -   
Interest accrued on loans  -    -    -    44,87,671 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits  19,825  13,236  11,64,305  52,27,963 
other current assets  -    -    2,90,71,858  -   
Less: Provision (refer note:  34)  -    -   (2,90,71,858)  -   

 10,69,825  11,09,910  11,64,305  97,15,634 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

12 CurrenT InveSTMenTS  
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Current Investments
In equity Shares (quoted) (refer note no.28) 19,26,61,028 3,65,80,253
Investment in non convertible debentures (Quoted)
6 095 (Previous year : 2,527 ) units of H1,000 each of Muthoot finance Limited. 62,68,022 26,30,857
In Mutual Fund (Unquoted)
69 units in reliance mutual fund- direct Plan- Growth Plan 2,00,000  -   
18138 units in reliance mutual fund- Liquid fund Treasury Plan- Growth Plan * 5,31,00,000  -   
27,449 units (Previous year : 87,736,256 units) of H10 each fully paid up of 

reliance Liquid fund -Treasury Plan

8,57,79,463 25,06,84,742

6,19,220 units (Previous year : nil) of H10 each fully paid up of birla Cash Plus 
fund Investment

12,74,21,103  -   

26,65,00,566 25,06,84,742
In Investment Property (Valued at coss less impairment) ** 63,22,605 59,34,844
total 47,17,52,221 29,58,30,696
aggregate book value of quoted investments 19,89,29,050 3,92,11,110
aggregate Market Value of quoted Investments 20,89,96,747 3,91,50,690
aggregate book value of unquoted investments 26,65,00,567 25,06,84,742
aggregate Market Value of unquoted Investments (at naV) 27,01,11,358 25,06,84,742

 * Pledged with national Stock exchange towards Margin Money
 **Investment property is valued at cost and in the opinion of the board the sum is lower than the fair value of the property

13 InvenTOrIeS  
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Stock in trade (refer note 30)  6,29,00,224  8,07,13,135 

 6,29,00,224  8,07,13,135 

14 TrADe reCeIvABLeS  
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for payment
Secured,considered good - 13,60,664
unsecured,considered good - 3,24,194
unsecured,considered doubtful 90,60,897 1,40,13,342

90,60,897 1,56,98,200
Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables 90,60,897 1,40,13,342

- 16,84,858
Outstanding for a period less than six months from the date they are due for payment
Secured,considered good 3,25,71,211 7,69,72,745
unsecured,considered good 10,53,95,001 16,27,917
unsecured,considered doubtful - 20,35,827

13,79,66,212 8,06,36,489
Less: Provision for doubtful trade receivables - 20,35,827

13,79,66,212 7,86,00,662
total trade Receivables 13,79,66,212 8,02,85,520
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

15 CASH AnD BAnk BALAnCeS   
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
Cash on hand 93,842 2,16,739
Balances with banks

on current accounts ** 9,18,62,430 6,45,95,599
deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months 1,20,00,000  -   
on unpaid dividend account 2,55,825 5,40,897

10,42,12,097 6,53,53,235
Other Balances

deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months * 4,50,94,413 10,60,07,860
deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months but less than  12 months * 8,94,06,122 20,15,57,827
Less : amount disclosed under non current asset (refer note 11) * (10,50,000) (10,96,674)
Stamps in hand  -   510

13,34,50,535 30,64,69,523
total cash and bank balances 23,76,62,632 37,18,22,758
*Incudes deposits pledged with banks as security for loans and guarantees issued by 
banks in favour of various stock / commodity exchanges

11,00,21,230 12,70,31,105

** balance in current account includes the amount in the name of JrG eSoP Trust 2,81,378 2,81,378

16 SALe OF ServICeS   
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Income from equity broking and related services  10,75,91,239  14,06,79,092 
Income from depository participant services  1,81,20,375  2,11,75,948 
Income from commodity broking  5,52,16,968  9,57,94,552 
Income from insurance broking  18,08,060  32,09,856 
Interest income from lending operations  4,78,57,193  4,51,45,724 
Income from financial distribution, marketing  support and other services (including 
Profit on Sale of Commodities / Commodity derivative instruments)

 1,41,94,542  2,47,64,646 

total of income from operations  24,47,88,377  33,07,69,818 

17 OTHer OPerATInG InCOMe    
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Interst / penal charges for delayed payments  1,25,09,307  91,81,996 
others  8,45,696  28,35,779 
total  1,33,55,003  1,20,17,775 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

18 OTHer InCOMe   
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Interest received on fixed deposits  1,82,83,782  2,92,15,943 
Interest on debentures  7,54,599 -
dividend income -current investments  17,64,016  1,89,015 
Profit on sale of fixed asset  7,45,032  -   
net gain on sale of current investment  2,69,67,604  2,09,52,892 
MTM gain/(loss) on mutual fund investment (18,86,336)  55,43,227 
exchange fluctuation gain (net)  16,05,895  7,15,700 
other non-operating income  20,51,317  37,27,123 
Gratuity provision no longer required written back  19,38,393  -   
Provisions/ Liabilities no longer required written back  92,50,261  60,40,176 
total  6,14,74,563  6,63,84,076 

19 OPerATInG eXPenSeS    
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
business incentive         4,58,54,742 6,22,22,425
Turnover charges 1,10,29,635 1,44,94,325
other trading expenses 87,19,848 73,28,623
total 6,56,04,225 8,40,45,373

20 eMPLOYee BeneFIT eXPenSeS     
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Employee benefit expenses
Salaries, wages and bonus 11,86,67,810 15,51,68,962
Contributions to provident and other funds 39,45,856 91,51,164
employee stock compensation expenses 3,706 15,64,703
Staff welfare expenses 53,54,237 73,78,434
employee sales incentives 6,77,244 25,21,420
total 12,86,48,853 17,57,84,683

21 FInAnCe COST     
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Interest expense 7,84,399 94,912
total 7,84,399 94,912
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

22 OTHer eXPenSeS   
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Power & fuel 77,04,386 83,59,099
office rent 2,30,22,369 2,35,52,799
rates and Taxes 2,33,026 57,98,274
repair and maintenance- others 99,10,016 1,56,96,685
Traveling expenses 38,03,575 98,89,909
Communication expenses 1,19,33,596 1,70,44,230
Printing & Stationery 17,69,783 93,06,098
office and branch expenses 94,65,187 99,90,468
Professional and consultancy charges 1,34,01,005 2,43,57,982
Ware house charges 24,02,539 43,46,307
directors sitting fees 1,60,000 1,89,000
amount no longer recoverable 3,53,472 83
bank and other charges 9,61,796 25,63,595
Loss on sale of fixed assets  -   11,32,533
Procurement Charges 10,04,321  -   
Miscellaneous expenses 76,53,540 75,50,415
asset written off  -   9,63,782
Provision for doubtful debts 22,54,879 28,28,101
Provision for doubtful loans and advances 17,75,270 22,13,216
Provision for non Performing assets 59,341  -   
total 9,78,68,101 14,57,82,576

23 COnTInGenT LIABILITIeS AnD COMMITMenTS   
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
I. Contingent liabilities
 a) bank guarantees outstanding  12,15,50,000  10,65,00,000 
 b) other money for which the company is contingently liable
  - Income tax matters  1,93,07,260  1,79,38,490 
 c) Claims against the company not acknowledged as debt  5,57,65,000  3,94,70,059 

 d)  Provident fund dues disputed in appeal against which H31,12,570 is paid 
under dispute and included under advances

 95,34,392  -   

 e)  In addition to the above, the Company is also in the process of replying / has responded to show cause notices and 
queries from regulatory authorities including Securities and exchange board of India (SebI) which arise in the ordinary 
course of the business. however there are no such matters pending that the Company expects to be material in relation 
to its business.

II. Commitments
  estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and 

not provided for
 other commitments -  1,00,000 
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

24 DeFerreD TAXeS
The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are outlined below:
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Deferred tax assets
Provision for doubtful trade receivables  2,24,093  2,86,340 
Provision for gratuity  2,96,647  6,04,127 
others  -    1,93,445 

a  5,20,740  10,83,912 
Deferred tax liabilities
depreciation / amortisation  18,79,296  24,00,342 
Net deferred tax asset a-B (13,58,556) (13,16,430)

25 reLATeD PArTY DISCLOSureS
Company having 
significant influence

duckworth Limited, Mauritius   

Key managerial 
personnel 

Gopichand S ( Managing director from 25 January 2012 to 06 august 2013)
anand Tandon (Managing director from 6th august 2013 to 13 february 2014)
Guruswami raj G (Company Secretary and Legal head) (w.e.f 14th March 2014)
Samson K J (Managing director of Inditrade derivatives and Commodities Limited , formerly known as 
JrG Wealth Management Limited)
anand Tandon, (Managing director of JrG fincorp Limited ( 1 february 2012 to 8 november 2013)
harish Galipelli, director of JrG fincorp Limited
Vijayakumaran V K, (Manager of Inditrade Insurance broking Private Limited, (formerly known as JrG 
Insurance broking Private Limited)) 

 transactions and balance with related parties
Particulars transactions  

during the year
amount  

receivable as at
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
as at 

31 March 2014
as at 

31 March 2013
Remuneration paid
salaries and other allowances 
Gopichand S 1,16,000 26,67,279 - -
Guruswami raj G 75,176 - - -

 note: Salaries and other allowances paid to Managing director and manager of subsidiary companies aggregates to  
H1,61,47678/- (Py 76,81,994)

26 eArnInGS Per SHAre
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Earnings
Net loss for the year  a (5,66,99,351) (6,55,90,003)
shares
number of shares at the beginning of the year 2,32,85,501 2,32,85,501
add: equity shares issued and exercised by employees under eSoP plan  -    -   
Total number of shares at the end of the year 2,32,85,501 2,32,85,501
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year B 2,32,85,501 2,32,85,501
Basic & Diluted earnings per share  a / B (2.43) (2.81)

The conversion of stock options into equity, if made, would have the effect of reducing the loss per share and would therefore be 
anti-dilutive. hence, such conversion has not been considered for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share.
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

27 eMPLOYee BeneFIT
Details of actuarial valuation of gratuity pursuant to the accounting standard 15 (Revised) :
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 67,55,192 49,74,656
acquisition adjustment 5,82,732 -
Service cost (25,982) 17,05,755
Interest cost 15,61,777 4,10,409
actuarial gain (14,17,663) (8,93,661)
benefits paid 74,09,182 (2,04,972)
Projected benefit obligation at the end of the year 1,48,65,238 59,92,187
Change in plan assets
fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 33,196 60,63,377
expected return on plan assets 2,960 5,67,411
actuarial (gain)/ loss 35,05,216 (5,867)
Contributions 74,09,182 3,35,423
benefits paid (39,25,460) (2,04,972)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 70,25,094 67,55,372

Reconciliation of present value of obligation on the fair value of plan assets
Particulars Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Present value of projected benefit obligation at the end of the year 1,48,65,238 59,92,187
funded status of the plans 70,25,094 67,55,372
Funded status amount of liability recognized in the balance sheet 78,40,144 (7,63,185)
Recognised under :
Provisions (Long term) (refer note 6) 11,50,596 32,61,181
Provisions (Short term) (refer note 6) 26,270 78,528
Loans and advances (Long term) (refer note 10) (41,64,327) (41,02,894)

(29,87,461) (7,63,185)

The components of net gratuity costs are reflected below:
Change in projected benefit obligation Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
Service cost (25,982) 17,05,755
Interest cost 15,61,777 4,10,409
expected return on plan assets (2,960) (5,67,411)
recognized net actuarial (gain)/ loss (49,22,879) (8,87,794)
Net gratuity costs (33,90,044) 6,60,959

Financial assumptions as at the Balance sheet date: 
Change in projected benefit obligation Year ended 

31 March, 2014
Year ended 

31 March, 2013
discount rate 9.00% 8.50%
Long-term rate of compensation increase 8.75% 7.50%
rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 9.50%
attrition rate 5% at younger ages and reducing 

to 1% at older ages according to 
graduated scale

The Company assesses these assumptions with the projected long-term plans of growth and prevalent industry standards.
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

28 InveSTMenT In equITY InSTruMenTS (quOTeD)
Particulars Face Value Quantity as at 

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

abbot India Ltd 10  -   5,900  -   99,75,303  -   
Mannapuram finance Ltd 2  -   4,60,000  -   83,97,732  -   
Lupin Ltd 2 - 1,08,985 - 9,89,79,092 -
asian paints Ltd 1  -   40,500  -   1,99,37,671 -
Cadila health Care Ltd 5 - 41,350 - 3,99,14,958 -
Proctor and Gamble hygiene 
and health Care Ltd 10 - 4,997 - 1,54,56,272 -

rallis India Ltd 1 10,000 4,87,775
aditya birla nuvo Ltd 10 500 2,72,341
Career Point Ltd 10 2,502 5,14,491
CeSC Ltd 10 2,000 5,69,625
CIPLa Ltd 10 1,500 8,10,500
dewan housing finance 
Corporation Ltd 10 5,000 6,18,275

dr.reddy's Laboratories Ltd 5 350 6,43,500
escorts Ltd 10 13,000 4,32,000
Gmr Infrastructure Ltd 1 20,000 2,53,650
hexaware Technologies Ltd 2 3,000 47,03,400
ICICI bank Ltd 10 4,500 2,58,600
Inox Leisure Ltd 10 4,000 2,45,148
Jagran Prakashan Ltd 2 2,636 4,28,750
Jubilant Life Sciences Limited 1 2,500 1,64,668
Jyothi Infraventures Ltd 10 6,054 4,10,000
Kalpataru Power 
Transmission Ltd 2 5,000 21,46,025

Punjab national bank 10 3,000 11,54,000
reliance Industries Ltd 10 2,700 20,86,830
South Indian bank Ltd 1 20,000 3,21,600
Tata elxsi Ltd 10 300 57,300
Tata Steel Ltd 10 1,000 3,12,850
Tata Chemicals Ltd 10 1,000 4,90,000
Tube Investments of India Ltd 2 10,000 16,48,000
united bank of India 10 10,000 5,63,500
united Phosphorous Ltd 2 5,500 6,45,700
Larsen Toubro Ltd 2 2,600 35,52,120
Shopers Stop Ltd 5 1,000 4,01,250
Indian hotels Co Ltd 1 10,000 5,35,500
honda Siel Power Products Ltd 10 1,000 3,97,250
Coromandel agro Products & 
oils Ltd 10 1,000 1,84,950

oriental bank of Commerce 10 10,000 25,18,000
Sterlite Industries (India) Ltd 1 4,000 3,74,800
federal bank Ltd 10 1,000 4,80,650
nMdC Ltd 1 3,000 4,11,300

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

88



for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

28 InveSTMenT In equITY InSTruMenTS (quOTeD) (Contd.)
Particulars Face Value Quantity as at 

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

as at 
31 March 2014

as at 
31 March 2013

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

VST Industries Ltd    10  100  1,51,590 
Cairn India Ltd    10  5,000  13,62,250 
bank of baroda    10  2,200  14,85,880 
LIC housing finance Ltd    2  1,000  2,24,900 
City union bank Ltd    1  287  11,605 
Power finance Corporation 
Ltd    10  1,500  2,71,050 

dhanlaxmi bank Limited    10  10,000  4,57,500 
Maruti Suzuki India Ltd    5  1,000  12,81,200 
Canara bank    10  6,000  22,39,930 
total  19,26,61,028  3,65,80,253

29 FOreIGn CurrenCY FOrWArD COnTrACTS  
The Group does not use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations.
The year end foreign currency exposures that have not been hedged by a derivative instrument or otherwise are given below:
Particulars as at 

31 March, 2014
as at 

31 March, 2013
amount receivable in foreign currency : uSd  2,82,484  2,82,484 
amount equivalent in Inr  1,69,17,132  1,53,11,237 

30 OPen InTereST In FuTureS enTereD AS AT THe BALAnCe SHeeT DATe
sr.No. Name of future (short position) series of Future Number of 

Contracts
Measurement 
Unit

No of units 
involved

1 rubber 15-april-2014 1 quintal  1,280 
2 rubber 15-May-2014 1 quintal  440 
3 rM Seed 18-april-2014 1 quintal  250 
4 rM Seed 20-May-2014 1 quintal  20 
5 Cotton seed oil cake 20-May-2014 1 quintal  300 
6 Cotton seed oil cake 20-June-2014 1 quintal  830 
7 Cotton seed oil cake 18-July-2014 1 quintal  1,110 

31 SeGMenT rePOrTInG
a) Primary segment information (by business segment)
 The Group’s business is organized and management reviews the performance based on the business segment as mentioned 

below:-
i. equity broking- equity broking, demat and related  

servises   
iv. Insurance broking- Insurance product distribution 

services

ii. Commodity broking- Commodity broking and related 
services

v. Client financing- Margin financing to broking 
clients, gold loans and loan against shares, 
commodities etciii. financial distribution, marketing  support and other 

services
 Income for each segment has been specifically identified. expenditure, assets and liabilities are either specifically identifiable 

with individual segments or have been allocated to segments on a systematic basis.
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for the year ended March 31, 2014

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees except share data and where otherwise stated)

Consolidated Notes to the Financial statements (contd.)

32 SeCurITY MArGInS FrOM CLIenTS 
 In order to secure the performance by the clients of their obligations, commitments and liabilities to the Group, securities/ bank 

guarantees are placed as margins by creation of pledge in favour of/transfer to the Company’s depository account. Such securities 
are held by the Company in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of its clients and are not recognised in the financial statements. In case 
such margins are received in cash, the same are disclosed under current liabilities. 

33 MICrO, SMALL AnD MeDIuM enTerPrISeS DeveLOPMenT ACT, 2006     
 The management has identified enterprises which have provided goods and services to the Company and which qualify under 

the definition of “Micro and Small enterprises” as defined under Micro, Small and Medium enterprises development act, 2006 
(“the act”). accordingly,based on the information received and available with the Company ,there are no amounts payable to 
such enterprises as at 31 March 2014.

34 JrG eSOP TruST     
 as per the requirements of Securities exchange board of India (employee Stock option Scheme and employee Stock Purchase 

Scheme) Guidelines 1999 (‘SebI guidelines’), since the stock option plan is administered through a trust, the accounts of the 
Company are prepared as if the Company itself is administering the employee stock option plan. Pursuant to such requirement 
of the SebI guidelines the equity shares issued to the JrG eSoP Trust and not exercised by the employees as on 31 March 2014 
have been presented as a deduction from the share capital. The bank balance of the JrG eSoP Trust as on 31 March 2014 net 
of the loan granted and capital contribution to the JrG eSoP Trust by the Company has been presented as bank balance of the 
Company. 

35 The group has exposure to national Spot exchange Limited (nSeL) of H290.71 Lakhs with respect to the proprietary contracts.  
nSeL has not been able to adhere to its payment obligations.  The management has taken appropriate actions and is pressing 
for the early settlement of the dues.  Pending final outcome which is uncertain, the management has provided for an amount of 
H290.71 Lakhs in this respect which is disclosed under the head “exceptional items”.

36 Prior year comparatives have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to the current year’s classification.

as per our report of even date attached for and on behalf of the board  
for  Haribhakti & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
firm registration no : 103523W

s sundararaman Munish Dayal P Viswanathan
Partner Director  Director 
Membership no: 028423

Guruswami Raj G
Manager cum Company Secretary 

Place : Chennai Place : Gurgaon
date : 27-May-2014 date : 27-May-2014

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

91



notes

A
n

n
u

A
l 

R
e

p
o

R
t

 2
01

3-
14

In
d

It
R

A
d

e 
C

A
pI

tA
l 

lI
m

It
ed

92



Board of directors Company Secretary & Compliance officer
Mr. P.Viswanathan, Chairman
Mr. Munish Dayal, Director
Mr. B R Menon, Director

Mr.Guruswami raj G

Statutory auditors Banker
Haribhakti & Co. LLP
Chartered accountants 
5-b, A block, 5th Floor,
Mena Kampala arcade,
18 & 20, Thiagaraya road, T nagar, 
Chennai - 600 017

HdFC bank 
The Federal bank 
ICICI Bank 
axis Bank 
State Bank of Travancore
The South Indian Bank

registrar and Share transfer agent registered office
bigshare Services Pvt. Ltd
E-2/3, ansa Industrial Estate, Sakivihar Road, Sakinaka, 
andheri (E), 
Mumbai- 400 072

XXXVI/202, JJ Complex, Dairy Methanam Road, 
Edappally, Kochi, 
Kerala- 682 024

Corporate Information

A  Product
info@trisyscom.com



IndItrade CapItal lImIted
(Formerly known as JrG Securities limited) 
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XXXVI-202, JJ Complex, Dairy Methanam Road, Edappally, Kochi – 682024 
Tel: +91 484 3006000 • Fax: +91 484 2409922 
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ATTENDANCE SLIP
I/We hereby record my/our presence at the 20th Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of the Company at 10.30 a.m. IST on Friday, the 26th September 2014, at “The 

Renai Cochin”, P.B Number.2310, Edappally- Palarivattom Road, Palarivattom, Kochi, Kerala - 682 025

Member’s Folio/DP ID-Client ID No. Member’s / Proxy’s name in Block Letters Member’s / Proxy’s Signature

Note:

1. Please fill up the details, sign and hand this attendance slip at the attendance verification counter at the entrance of the meeting hall. Members/ their proxies would be 

allowed to attend the meeting on production of this slip duly completed and signed. Duplicate attendance slips will not be issued at the venue of the meeting.

2. Members holding shares in physical form are requested to advise the change in address/contact nos./e-mail ids to M/s Bigshare Services Pvt. Ltd,E-2/3, Ansa Industrial 

Estate, Sakivihar Road, Saki Naka, Andheri (E), Mumbai-400 072 by quoting folio no(s) in writing or by mail to bhagwan@bigshareonline.com. Members holding shares 

in electronic from to update such changes with their Depository Participant(s).

PROXY FORM

Name of the Member(s)  :

Registered Address  :

E-mail ID  :

Folio/DP ID-Client ID No.  :

l/We, being the member(s) of.............................................................................................................................................................. shares of the above named Company, hereby appoint:

(1) Name...........................................................................................................................Address.................................................................................................................................................

 Email Id:......................................................................................................................Signature..............................................................................................................or failing him/her;

(2) Name...........................................................................................................................Address.................................................................................................................................................

 Email Id:......................................................................................................................Signature..............................................................................................................or failing him/her;

(3) Name...........................................................................................................................Address.................................................................................................................................................

 Email Id:......................................................................................................................Signature..............................................................................................................or failing him/her;

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held at 10.30 a.m. IST on Friday, 

the 26th September 2014, at “The Renai Cochin”, P.B Number.2310, Edappally- Palarivattom Road, Palarivattom, Kochi, Kerala - 682 025 and at any adjournment thereof in 

respect of such resolutions as are indicated below:

Resolution 
No.

Vote (Optional)
For Against Abstain

1. Adoption of Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 
31st March 2014 together with the Reports of the Board of Directors and Auditors 
thereon.

INDITRADE CAPITAL LIMITED

(Formerly known as JRG Securities Limited)

CIN: L67120KL1994PLC008265

Reg. Office: XXXVI - 202, JJ Complex, Dairy Methanam Road, Edappally, Kochi – 682 024, Kerala.

Tele: 0484 3006000,Fax:0484 2409922, Email:jrg@inditrade.com, Web Site:www.inditrade.com

INDITRADE CAPITAL LIMITED

(Formerly known as JRG Securities Limited)

CIN: L67120KL1994PLC008265

Reg. Office: XXXVI - 202, JJ Complex, Dairy Methanam Road, Edappally, Kochi – 682 024, Kerala.

Tele: 0484 3006000,Fax:0484 2409922, Email:jrg@inditrade.com, Web Site:www.inditrade.com



Resolution 
No.

Vote (Optional)
For Against Abstain

2. Re-appointment of Mr. Munish Dayal (DIN:01683836),who retire by rotation
3. Appointment of M/s Haribhakthi & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants, as Statutory 

Auditors.
4. Appointment of Mr. P. Viswanathan (DIN: 00011136) as an Independent Director 

of the Company
5. Appointment of Mr. B. R. Menon (DIN: 00113329) as an Independent Director of 

the Company
6. Appointment of Mr.Guruswami Raj as the Manager of the Company

Signed this................................................................................................................................ day of ………….2014.

Member’s Folio/DP ID-Client ID No.....................................Signature of Shareholder(s)......................................

Signature of Proxy holder(s)......................................................................................................................................... 

Note:
1. This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the registered office of the Company not less 

than 48 hours before commencement of the meeting.

2. For the resolutions, Explanatory Statements and Notes, please refer to the notice of 20th Annual General Meeting.

3. It is optional to indicate your preference by putting a ‘X’ in the appropriate column against the resolutions indicated in the Box 
above. If you leave the ‘For’ or ‘Against’ or ‘Abstain’ column blank against any or all resolutions, your proxy will be entitled to vote in 
the manner as he/she thinks appropriate.

4. Please complete all details before submission.
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